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QUESTION PRESENTED 
In 2008, the district court in this case found the 

supermarket chain Gristede’s to be in violation of the 
mandatory overtime provisions of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (“FLSA”).  Petitioner John Catsima-
tidis—the Chief Executive Officer and stock holder of 
a professionally managed corporation whose subsidi-
ary operates Gristede’s—“was not personally respon-
sible” for the company’s violations, as the Second 
Circuit observed.  Nonetheless, after expressly ac-
knowledging a conflict in the circuits over the stand-
ard for establishing personal liability under the 
FLSA, the court held petitioner personally liable for 
over $2 million in backpay and penalties associated 
with the company’s FLSA violations.   

The question presented is: 
Whether an individual may be held personally li-

able for a corporation’s violation of the FLSA merely 
because the individual had general control over cor-
porate affairs, but exercised no personal responsibil-
ity over the conduct that caused the violation.
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 
Petitioner is John Catsimatidis, appellant below. 
Respondents Bobby Irizarry, Ruben Mora, Jose-

lito Arocho, Joseph Crema, Alfred Croker, Frank 
Deleon, Mario Dipreta, William Helwig, Robert 
Misuraca, Robert Pastorino, Victor Phelps, Daniel 
Salegna, Gilberto Santiago, Carlos Torres, on behalf 
of himself and all others similarly situated, Lewis 
Chewning, Raymond Allen, Llanos Blas, Nabil Elf-
iky, Mohammed Dabash, Carlos Martinez, Luis Mo-
rales, Steve Grossman, Franklyn Collado, David Ad-
ler, Dino A. Zaino, Patrick Labella, Robert Mastroni-
cola, Anthony Brooks, Victor Bennett, Candido Mo-
rel, Jose Martinez, Wayne Hendricks, Harold Horn, 
Troy Miller, Ousmane Diatta, Elliot Stone, Tina Ro-
driguez, Gabriel Karamanian, Brian Homola, Anna 
Garrett, Nelson Betancourt, Jose Delacruz, Yuri 
Lamarche, Michael Groseclose, Rodolfo Delemos, Pio 
Morel, Abigail Claudio, Malick Diouf, David Otto, 
Alejandro Morales, Victor Diaz, Paul Petrosino, Ed-
uardo Gonzalez, Jr., Jose Bonilla-Reyes, Vincent Pe-
rez, Martin Gonzalez, Calvin Adams, William Fritz, 
Katherine Halpern, Christian Tejada, Edward 
Stokes, Plinio Medina, Towana Starks, Lawson 
Hopkins, Ruben M. Aleman, Eugene Rybacki, Earl 
Cross, Manolo Hiraldo, and Robert Hairston were 
appellees below. 

Gristede’s Operating Corp.; Gristede’s Foods NY, 
Inc.; Namdor, Inc.; Gristede’s Foods, Inc.; City Pro-
duce Operating Corp.; Gallo Balseca; and James 
Monos were parties in the district court but not the 
court of appeals. 
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 
Petitioner John Catsimatidis respectfully re-

quests a writ of certiorari to review the judgment of 
the United States Court of Appeals for the Second 
Circuit. 

OPINIONS BELOW 
The decision of the court of appeals is reported at 

722 F.3d 99, and is reprinted in the Appendix to the 
Petition (“App.”) at 1a-40a.  The decision of the dis-
trict court is available at 2011 WL 4571792, and is 
reprinted at App. 48a-54a (decision), 44a-47a (oral 
findings).  

JURISDICTION 
The court of appeals issued its decision on July 9, 

2013.  App. 1a.  On September 20, 2013, Justice 
Ginsburg extended the time for filing this petition to 
December 6, 2013.  The Court’s jurisdiction is in-
voked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1). 

STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 
The relevant statutory provisions are reproduced 

at App. 65a-71a. 
INTRODUCTION 

“A basic tenet of American corporate law is that 
the corporation and its shareholders are distinct en-
tities.”  Dole Food Co. v. Patrickson, 538 U.S. 468, 
474 (2003).  “Only under exceptional circumstances 
… can the difference” between the two “be disre-
garded,” and liability imposed upon an individual for 
corporate debts.  Burnet v. Clark, 287 U.S. 410, 415 
(1932).  It is also well established under “traditional 
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agency principles” that a corporation, and “not … its 
officers or owners,” is vicariously liable “for the un-
lawful activity of the corporation’s employee or 
agent.”  Meyer v. Holley, 537 U.S. 280, 282-83 (2003)  
(emphasis omitted).   

In this case, however, the Second Circuit held pe-
titioner John Catsimatidis—the Chief Executive Of-
ficer and indirect owner of stock of a corporation 
whose subsidiary runs Gristede’s supermarkets—
personally liable for over $2 million in backpay and 
penalties awarded in a settlement of the supermar-
kets’ FLSA liabilities.  The court held petitioner per-
sonally liable for the company’s FLSA violations 
even though he “was not personally responsible for 
the FLSA violations.”  App. 37a (emphasis added).  
Petitioner instead was held personally liable merely 
because he “had functional control over the enter-
prise as a whole,” and “authority over management, 
supervision, and oversight of [Gristede’s] affairs in 
general.”  App. 25a, 35a (emphases added).     

That holding implicates a direct conflict in the 
circuits over the important and recurring issue of 
whether, and under what circumstances, an individ-
ual may be held personally liable for a company’s 
FLSA violations.  The Second Circuit’s opinion ex-
pressly acknowledges its conflict with a decision of 
the First Circuit holding that an individual may be 
personally liable under the FLSA only when the in-
dividual was himself personally responsible for the 
acts violating the statute.  The Seventh, Eighth, and 
Eleventh Circuits agree with the First Circuit and 
limit personal liability to acts of personal responsi-
bility.  By contrast, the Fifth, Sixth, and Ninth Cir-
cuits agree with the Second Circuit and will hold 
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owners and officers personally liable so long as they 
merely possess general control over the company, 
even if they were not responsible for the violation at 
issue. 

The rule applied by the latter circuits—and ap-
plied in the decision below—cannot be squared with 
the text of the FLSA, common-law principles of lim-
ited liability, or multiple precedents of this Court.  
And the court of appeals’ error has significant conse-
quences:  the court’s lax liability standard exposes 
virtually every corporate officer and controlling 
shareholder to personal liability for his or her com-
pany’s acts, regardless whether those individuals 
played any role in—and thus bore any personal re-
sponsibility for—the employment decisions that vio-
lated the statute.  

This case is an excellent vehicle for resolving the 
circuit conflict and restoring the law of personal lia-
bility under the FLSA to a path consistent with the 
text of the statute and long-settled principles of lim-
ited liability.  The decision is based on the explicit 
premise—consistent with the summary judgment 
record viewed favorably to petitioner (the non-
movant)—that petitioner was not personally respon-
sible for the FLSA violations for which he is now be-
ing held legally responsible.  The decision thus 
squarely presents the question whether personal lia-
bility under such circumstances is permissible, or 
whether there must be a showing of more active in-
volvement in the corporate decisions and acts that 
violate the statute.  That question is not clouded by 
disputed facts or contestable inferences—on this rec-
ord, there is simply the pure legal question whether 
an individual can be held personally liable for corpo-
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rate conduct for which he was not personally respon-
sible.  To ask that question is to answer it.  Certiora-
ri should be granted. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Statutory Background 
The FLSA was enacted in 1938 to “set up a com-

prehensive legislative scheme for preventing the 
shipment in interstate commerce” of goods produced 
“under labor conditions … which fail to conform to 
[labor] standards set up by the Act.”  United States v. 
Darby, 312 U.S. 100, 109 (1941).  Among other 
things, the Act prescribes the minimum wages em-
ployers must pay employees and the maximum 
hours employees are permitted to work without over-
time pay.  29 U.S.C. §§ 206, 207.  The Act authorizes 
criminal penalties for any “person who willfully vio-
lates” those limits.  Id. § 216(a).  The Act also pro-
vides that “[a]ny employer who violates th[ose] pro-
visions shall … be liable to the employee or employ-
ees affected” for “the amount of their unpaid mini-
mum wages, or their unpaid overtime compensa-
tion,” and “an additional equal amount as liquidated 
damages.”  Id. § 216(b).   

The Act provides that the term “employer” “in-
cludes any person acting directly or indirectly in the 
interest of an employer in relation to an employee.”  
29 U.S.C. § 203(d).  This Court has construed that 
provision to contemplate joint-employment situa-
tions, i.e., one employer acting in conjunction with 
another employer in relation to the same employee.  
Falk v. Brennan, 414 U.S. 190, 195 (1973).  But the 
Court has never had occasion to consider whether, 
and under what circumstances, the provision author-
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izes individual liability for a natural person who 
owns or manages an employer that is a corporate en-
tity.  The Court has, however, held that a similar 
definition of “employer” was meant simply to ensure 
that “courts would apply the tort rule of respondeat 
superior” to unfair labor practices, such that the cor-
porate employer will be liable for the acts of natural 
persons acting on its behalf.  Packard Motor Car Co. 
v. NLRB, 330 U.S. 485, 489 (1947).  

B. Factual Background And Procedural 
History 

Because this case arises from an order granting 
summary judgment to plaintiffs on the issue of peti-
tioner’s personal liability, the record pertinent to 
that issue is reviewed in the light most favorable to 
petitioner.  See Groh v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551, 562-
63 (2004).  That record establishes the following.  

1. a.  This case arises from a civil action in which 
plaintiffs, employees of Gristede’s supermarkets, al-
leged violations of the FLSA’s overtime provisions 
and New York labor law.  Gristede’s is a supermar-
ket chain located in and around New York City that 
has 50 stores and approximately 1,700 employees.  
These supermarkets are operated by a corporation 
known as Namdor, Inc.  Namdor, Inc. is in turn a 
subsidiary of Gristede’s Foods, Inc.  App. 59a.  
Gristede’s Foods, Inc. is a professionally managed 
company whose stock is indirectly owned by peti-
tioner.  Id.  Although petitioner has the titles of 
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of 
the company, the business is operated on a day-to-
day basis by Executive Vice President Charles 
Criscuolo.  Id.   
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As the court of appeals expressly recognized, peti-
tioner “was not personally responsible for the FLSA 
violations that led to this lawsuit.”  App. 37a.  Peti-
tioner never “directly managed” or even “otherwise 
interacted with the plaintiffs in this case.”  App. 36a.  
Petitioner did not discuss payroll, wages, timekeep-
ing, work schedules, or any similar matters with 
store employees.  App. 60a-61a.  Although petitioner 
occasionally visited Gristede’s stores, those visits 
were focused on merchandising and product place-
ment or public relations.  Id.   

b.  Plaintiffs filed this suit as a collective action 
under the FLSA and a class action under New York 
law.  In September 2006, the district court certified a 
class of “all persons employed by defendants as De-
partment Managers or Co-Managers who were not 
paid proper overtime premium compensation for all 
hours that they worked in excess of forty in a work-
week any time between April 30, 1998 and the date 
of final judgment in this matter.”  Torres v. 
Gristede’s Operating Corp., 2006 WL 2819730, at *11 
(S.D.N.Y. 2006).  On August 28, 2008, the district 
court granted, in part, plaintiffs’ motion for sum-
mary judgment against Gristede’s.  Torres v. 
Gristede’s Operating Corp., 628 F. Supp. 2d 447 
(S.D.N.Y. 2008).  The court rejected the company’s 
arguments that plaintiffs fell within statutory ex-
emptions to the FLSA’s overtime requirements and 
held that the Gristede’s policy governing overtime 
pay was unlawful.  See id. at 461, 463.   

The district court subsequently granted plaintiffs’ 
request to file a motion for partial summary judg-
ment seeking to establish petitioner’s personal liabil-
ity for any monetary judgment against Gristede’s.  
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App. 6a.  While that motion was pending, the district 
court entered an order approving a settlement 
agreement between the parties.  Id.  The court did 
not resolve the motion concerning petitioner’s per-
sonal liability. 

c.  On August 24, 2011, after financial difficulties 
at the company prompted efforts to modify the set-
tlement structure, plaintiffs sought to supplement 
their motion for partial summary judgment as to pe-
titioner’s individual liability.  Thus prompted, the 
court granted the motion and held that petitioner 
was personally liable for the more than $2 million 
that remained to be paid on the settlement.  App. 
56a.  The court rejected petitioner’s argument that 
an individual cannot be held personally liable for a 
corporate FLSA violation unless there is “some con-
nection between what the individual has done (in the 
exercise of his responsibility)” and the FLSA “wrong 
alleged in the complaint.”  App. 50a.  Instead, the 
court held, it was sufficient that petitioner had “ab-
solute control of Gristede’s” as a general matter, 
even if he did not personally exercise that control.  
App. 49a. 

3.  The court of appeals affirmed.  The court re-
peatedly acknowledged that petitioner “was not per-
sonally responsible for the FLSA violations that led 
to this lawsuit.”  App. 37a; see App. 36a (“there is no 
evidence that [petitioner] was responsible for the 
FLSA violations”).  While recognizing that the First 
Circuit had held that an individual may be held per-
sonally liable for a company’s FLSA violations only if 
he had “‘personal responsibility for making decisions 
about the conduct of the business that contributed to 
the violations of the Act,’” App. 19a (quoting 
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Baystate Alternative Staffing, Inc. v. Herman, 163 
F.3d 668, 678 (1st Cir. 1998)), the court of appeals 
asserted that other circuits had not “gone as far as” 
the First Circuit in that regard, App. 20a.  The court 
of appeals sided with the latter circuits, and thus 
held that personal liability can be imposed under the 
FLSA even absent any showing of personal responsi-
bility for the corporate violation.  See App. 35a-38a.  

The court instead applied an “economic reality” 
test under which it evaluated “evidence showing [pe-
titioner’s] authority over management, supervision, 
and oversight of [Gristede’s] affairs in general.”  App. 
25a (quotation and citations omitted; emphasis add-
ed).  The court believed “[t]here is no question that 
Gristede’s was the plaintiffs’ employer, and no ques-
tion that Catsimatidis had functional control over 
the enterprise as a whole.”  App. 35a.  The court also 
invoked the four-factor “framework” of Carter v. 
Dutchess Community College, 735 F.2d 8 (2d Cir. 
1984), which an earlier Second Circuit panel had 
adopted to identify the circumstances under which 
one business entity could be held liable with another 
business entity as a plaintiff’s joint employer.  See 
id. at 12, 15 (considering whether prison inmates 
teaching classes at community college were joint 
employees of college as well as Department of Cor-
rections).  Under the Carter test, the court asks 
whether the alleged joint employer “(1) had the pow-
er to hire and fire the employees, (2) supervised and 
controlled employee work schedules or conditions of 
employment, (3) determined the rate and method of 
payment, and (4) maintained employment records.”  
App. 11a (quotation omitted). 
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The court of appeals recognized that petitioner 
did not meet either the second or fourth factors of 
the Carter test—he did not “supervise[] and control[] 
employee work schedules or conditions of employ-
ment” or “maintain[] employment records.”  App. 
33a-34a, 35a.  The court held, however, that the first 
and third factors were satisfied because of petition-
er’s general control over corporate affairs.  Petitioner 
“possesses … the power to hire or fire anyone he 
chooses,” but he “rarely exercises” that power.  App. 
32a.  The court cited no evidence—and there is 
none—that petitioner ever hired or fired any mem-
ber of the plaintiff class.  The court also found the 
third Carter factor—whether the alleged joint em-
ployer “determined the rate and method of [employ-
ees’] payment”—to be satisfied because petitioner’s 
“electronic signature appears on paychecks” and he 
“controlled the company financially.”  App. 34a.  The 
court cited no evidence—and there is none—that pe-
titioner personally made any decisions concerning 
the rate or method by which any member of the 
plaintiff class was paid. 

Indeed, the court recognized that “there is no evi-
dence that [petitioner] was responsible for the FLSA 
violations—or that he ever directly managed” or 
even “otherwise interacted with the plaintiffs in this 
case.”  App. 36a.  The court also acknowledged that 
this was a “close case” even under its analysis, and it 
observed that no other court had held an owner who 
was not personally responsible for an FLSA violation 
liable for a business operation as large as Gristede’s.  
Id.  Petitioner nevertheless could be held liable, the 
court concluded, because there was “no question that 
[petitioner] had functional control over the enter-



10 

 

prise as a whole.”  App. 35a; see App. 38a (personal 
liability based on petitioner’s “active exercise of 
overall control over the company, his ultimate re-
sponsibility for the plaintiffs’ wages, his supervision 
of managerial employees, and his [non-employment] 
actions in individual stores” (emphases added)). 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 
The decision below implicates an acknowledged, 

outcome-determinative conflict over the important 
and recurring issue of whether, and in what circum-
stances, an individual may be held personally liable 
for a corporation’s FLSA violations.  The court of ap-
peals answered the question presented incorrectly, 
expressly divorcing personal liability from personal 
responsibility for the FLSA violation.  This case pre-
sents an ideal vehicle for resolving the circuit con-
flict and clarifying the law on this important ques-
tion.  The Court should grant certiorari and reverse 
the judgment below.    
I. THE COURTS OF APPEALS ARE IN CON-

FLICT OVER THE STANDARD FOR IM-
POSING PERSONAL LIABILITY ON INDI-
VIDUALS FOR CORPORATE FLSA VIO-
LATIONS 

As the court of appeals below recognized, App. 
19a-21a, the circuits are divided over the correct test 
for imposing personal liability under the FLSA.  The 
U.S. Department of Labor (“DOL”) agrees, explicitly 
acknowledging the conflict in an amicus brief filed in 
the court of appeals.  DOL C.A. Amicus Br. 17 n.4.  
As DOL’s brief observed, the First Circuit has held 
that an individual cannot be held personally liable 
unless he was “personally involved in causing the 



11 

 

company to violate the FLSA.”  Id.  Since that brief 
was filed, the Eleventh Circuit has issued a decision 
squarely endorsing the same rule, and the Seventh 
and Eighth Circuits had already taken the same po-
sition.  See infra at 12-14.  In conflict with those de-
cisions, four other circuits—the Fifth, Sixth, and 
Ninth, now joined by the Second—hold that individ-
ual owners and officers may be personally liable un-
der the FLSA based merely on their general control 
over a company, even when they are not personally 
responsible for the statutory violations.  See infra at 
14-16.  Certiorari should be granted to resolve this 
broad and intractable circuit conflict. 

A. The First, Seventh, Eighth, And Eleventh 
Circuits Hold That Personal Responsibil-
ity Is Required For Personal FLSA Lia-
bility 

The decision below acknowledges its disagree-
ment with the First Circuit’s decision in Baystate, 
see App. 19a-20a, which holds that the test for per-
sonal FLSA liability “focuse[s] on the role played by 
the [individual] in causing the corporation to under-
compensate employees.”  Baystate, 163 F.3d at 678.  
Under that test, the key question is whether an in-
dividual was “personal[ly] responsib[le] for making 
decisions about the conduct of the business that con-
tributed to the violations of the Act.”  Id.   

In Baystate, the First Circuit vacated a decision 
holding corporate officers and managers personally 
liable based on facts showing that they were “re-
sponsible for overall supervision of the office,” “exer-
cised some degree of supervisory control over the 
workers [at issue], and … were responsible for over-
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seeing various administrative aspects of the busi-
ness.”  Id.  The court rejected the argument that lia-
bility should turn on whether “the individual exer-
cised control over [a company’s] work situation” gen-
erally.  Id. at 677.  If “the significant factor in the 
personal liability determination is simply the exer-
cise of control by a corporate officer or corporate em-
ployee over the ‘work situation,’” the court warned, 
“almost any supervisory or managerial employee of a 
corporation could be held personally liable for the 
unpaid wages of other employees and the civil penal-
ty related thereto.”  Id. at 679.  Such an “expansive 
definition” of employer would be “untenable.”  Id.  
“[I]ndividuals ordinarily are shielded from personal 
liability when they do business in a corporate form, 
and … it should not lightly be inferred that Congress 
intended to disregard this shield in the context of the 
FLSA.”  Id. at 677.   

The Seventh Circuit similarly interprets the 
FLSA to authorize personal liability only when the 
individual defendant “had supervisory authority 
over the complaining employee and was responsible 
in whole or part for the alleged violation.”  Riordan 
v. Kempiners, 831 F.2d 690, 694 (7th Cir. 1987); see 
Luder v. Endicott, 253 F.3d 1020, 1022 (7th Cir. 
2001) (a “supervisor who uses his authority over the 
employees whom he supervises to violate their rights 
under the FLSA is liable for the violation”).  In 
Luder, the court held that plaintiffs stated an FLSA 
claim against the “warden, deputy warden, and per-
sonnel officers of the prison” where they worked by 
alleging that the defendants “force[d] them to work 
before and after their official shifts without paying 
them.”  253 F.3d at 1021-22.  
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The Eighth Circuit likewise focuses on the indi-
vidual defendant’s role in causing an FLSA violation.  
See Wirtz v. Pure Ice Company, 322 F.2d 259, 262 
(8th Cir. 1963).  In Wirtz, the court rejected an at-
tempt to hold the defendant, who owned 75% of the 
stock of the company at issue, personally liable for 
back wages owed under the FLSA.  The court recog-
nized that the defendant was “the majority stock-
holder and dominant personality” in the company 
and “could have taken over and supervised the rela-
tionship between the corporation and its employees 
had he decided to do so.”  Id. at 262.  But because the 
defendant “left the matter of compliance up to the 
various managers of the businesses in which he had 
an interest” and “had nothing to do with the hiring 
of the employees or fixing their wages and hours,” 
the court concluded that he was not an employer: he 
had not “acted … in the interest of an employer (the 
corporation) in relation to an employee.”  Id. at 262-
63 (quotation omitted). 

The Eleventh Circuit has also held that, for pur-
poses of assigning personal liability, the court’s 
“primary concern is the [defendant’s] role in causing 
the FLSA violation.”  Lamonica v. Safe Hurricane 
Shutters, Inc., 711 F.3d 1299, 1313 (11th Cir. 2013).  
An individual will not be made to pay for a corporate 
violation unless he exercised “control … over ‘signifi-
cant aspects of [the company’s] day-to-day functions, 
including compensation of employees or other mat-
ters in relation to an employee’”—control that “must 
be both substantial and related to the company’s 
FLSA obligations.”  Id. at 1313-14 (quoting Alvarez 
Perez v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 515 F.3d 
1150, 1160 (11th Cir. 2008) (second alteration in 
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original)).  Applying that standard, the Eleventh 
Circuit refused to hold a shareholder-president-
medical director of a rehabilitation center liable for 
the center’s FLSA violations where he “did not have 
operational control of significant aspects of [the cen-
ter’s] day-to-day functions, including compensation 
of employees or other matters ‘in relation to an em-
ployee.’”  Patel v. Wargo, 803 F.2d 632, 638 (11th Cir. 
1986) (quoting § 203(d)). 

B. The Second, Fifth, Sixth, and Ninth Cir-
cuits Hold That An Individual’s General 
Corporate Control Suffices To Justify His 
Personal Liability For Corporate FLSA 
Violations 

In conflict with the foregoing decisions, the Fifth, 
Sixth, and Ninth Circuits, as well as the Second Cir-
cuit below, have held that an individual may be held 
liable under the FLSA as a result of his ownership 
interest in or “general” control over a company, even 
if the individual did not actually exercise control 
over conditions of employment and thereby cause the 
FLSA violation. 

The Fifth Circuit relies on the same four-factor 
test applied by the Second Circuit and derived from 
the joint-employer context.  See Gray v. Powers, 673 
F.3d 352, 355 (5th Cir. 2012) (asking whether the 
alleged employer “(1) possessed the power to hire 
and fire the employees, (2) supervised and controlled 
employee work schedules or conditions of employ-
ment, (3) determined the rate and method of pay-
ment, and (4) maintained employment records” (quo-
tation omitted)).  Like the Second Circuit, the Fifth 
Circuit has held that an employee need not prove 
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that “each element” of the test is “present in every 
case.”  Id. at 357.  In fact, the Fifth Circuit has sug-
gested that an individual can be held personally lia-
ble on the basis of theoretical corporate authority 
never actually exercised with respect to the chal-
lenged employment practice:  “[W]e perceive the pa-
rameters of § 203(d) as sufficiently broad to encom-
pass an individual who, though lacking a possessory 
interest in the ‘employer’ corporation, effectively 
dominates its administration or otherwise acts, or 
has the power to act, on behalf of the corporation vis-
à-vis its employees.”  Donovan v. Sabine Irrigation 
Co., 695 F.2d 190, 194-95 (5th Cir. 1983) (emphasis 
added). 

The Sixth Circuit has taken a similar approach, 
holding that an individual “need only have opera-
tional control of significant aspects of the corpora-
tion’s day to day functions” to be personally liable.  
Dole v. Elliott Travel & Tours, Inc., 942 F.2d 962, 
966 (6th Cir. 1991).  In Elliott Travel, the court held 
a company’s president personally liable for overtime 
violations despite the fact that “the actual details of 
calculating the hours, overtime, and commission 
were handled by the payroll bookkeeper,” not the 
president.  Id.; see also Fegley v. Higgins, 19 F.3d 
1126, 1131 (6th Cir. 1994). 

Like the Second and Fifth Circuits, the Ninth 
Circuit applies a multi-factor test adopted originally 
to determine whether a distinct business entity qual-
ifies as a joint employer.  In Lambert v. Ackerley, 180 
F.3d 997 (9th Cir. 1999) (en banc), the court held 
that an individual defendant could be held liable for 
FLSA violations where the jury determined that he 
“had [1] a significant ownership interest with opera-
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tional control of significant aspects of the corpora-
tion’s day-to-day functions; [2] the power to hire and 
fire employees; [3] the power to determine salaries; 
[4] the responsibility to maintain employment rec-
ords.”  Id. at 1011-12 (quotation and alterations 
omitted); see Boucher v. Shaw, 572 F.3d 1087, 1091 
(9th Cir. 2009) (citing Lambert test). 

The Second Circuit below recognized the different 
approaches the courts of appeals had taken and ex-
pressly declined to “go[] as far as” the First Circuit’s 
rule limiting liability to those individuals personally 
responsible for an FLSA violation.  App. 19a-21a.  
The Second Circuit instead applied the four-factor 
joint-employment test.  App. 11a, 32a-35a (“whether 
the alleged employer (1) had the power to hire and 
fire the employees, (2) supervised and controlled em-
ployee work schedules or conditions of employment, 
(3) determined the rate and method of payment, and 
(4) maintained employment records” (quotation 
omitted)).  The court ruled that an individual need 
not satisfy each factor of the test—or even a majority 
of the factors—to be liable, see App. 35a, and it 
placed great weight on a defendant’s “functional con-
trol over the enterprise as a whole,” id.  The court’s 
analysis also made clear that an individual may be 
an employer even if his authority is “rarely exer-
cised” or never exercised with respect to the employ-
ees at issue.  See App. 24a, 36a.  Under the approach 
below, therefore, an individual may be—and in this 
case was—held personally liable for millions of dol-
lars of backpay and penalties even though “there is 
no evidence that he was responsible for the FLSA 
violations.”  App. 36a.   
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*   *   *   * 
As the discussion in this section shows, the liabil-

ity of individual owners, officers, and managers of 
corporate entities for FLSA violations committed by 
the entity turns on the geographic region in which 
those individuals happen to face suit.  There is no 
reason for this Court to tolerate such geographic var-
iation in the application of an important federal 
statute.  As the next section demonstrates, there is 
also no reason for this Court to tolerate appellate de-
cisions that break decisively from settled rules of 
limited liability.  While it may make sense to con-
strue “employer” to encompass distinct businesses 
acting together with respect to the same employ-
ees—to ensure that some entity is legally accounta-
ble when employees are subjected to unlawful terms 
of employment—it makes no sense to construe “em-
ployer” to impose personal liability on individuals 
within a single business entity, where that same en-
tity is already fully accountable under the FLSA to 
the affected employees.  
II. IMPOSING PERSONAL FLSA LIABILITY 

ON AN INDIVIDUAL BASED SOLELY ON 
HIS GENERAL CORPORATE AUTHORITY 
CONFLICTS WITH THE FLSA’S TEXT 
AND PRECEDENTS OF THIS COURT 

The term “employer” as used in the FLSA cannot 
reasonably be understood as authorizing personal 
liability for corporate FLSA violations, at least not 
when the individual had no personal responsibility 
for the conduct at issue.  This Court has never held 
that individuals may be personally liable with their 
own companies as joint “employers” under the FLSA.  
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Indeed, the Court has held the opposite in an analo-
gous statutory context, based in part on the im-
portant presumption that Congress does not intend 
to override traditional corporate-law principles of 
limited liability unless it says so explicitly.  The de-
cision below thus conflicts with the FLSA’s text, this 
Court’s precedents, and established common-law 
rules of limited liability that inform the statute’s 
meaning and application.   

A. The FLSA’s Text Does Not Authorize Per-
sonal Liability Based Solely On General 
Corporate Control 

It is a “basic tenet of American corporate law … 
that the corporation and its shareholders are distinct 
entities.”  Dole, 538 U.S. at 474.  Under “traditional 
agency principles,” it is “the corporation,” and “not … 
its officers or owners” who are vicariously liable “for 
the unlawful activity of the corporation’s employee or 
agent.”  Meyer, 537 U.S. at 282-83 (emphasis omit-
ted).  “Only under exceptional circumstances” may 
the corporate form be disregarded, and individual 
corporate owners held liable for the business entity’s 
debt.  Burnet, 287 U.S. at 415.   

This Court has repeatedly held that it will not 
presume Congress means to depart from such well-
established principles unless a statute “speak[s] di-
rectly to the question addressed by the common law.”  
United States v. Texas, 507 U.S. 529, 534 (1993); see 
Meyer, 537 U.S. at 286-87.  And Congress has, in 
fact, spoken directly to the question of individual li-
ability in other statutes.  For example, a statute gov-
erning vessel identification systems provides that 
“[i]f a person, not an individual, is involved in a vio-
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lation of this chapter, the president or chief execu-
tive of the person also is subject to any penalty pro-
vided under this section.”  46 U.S.C. § 12507(d).  An 
antitrust statute similarly provides that, 
“[w]henever a corporation shall violate any of the … 
antitrust laws, such violation shall be deemed to be 
also that of the individual directors, officers, or 
agents of such corporation who shall have author-
ized, ordered, or done any of the acts constituting in 
whole or in part such violation.”  15 U.S.C. § 24. 

The FLSA, by contrast, holds only “employers” li-
able for civil penalties under the Act, and it provides 
that the term “employer” “includes any person acting 
directly or indirectly in the interest of an employer 
in relation to an employee.”  29 U.S.C. § 203(d).  The 
Act nowhere expressly provides for owner or officer 
liability.  Nor does it contain text remotely compara-
ble to the statutes above.   

To be sure, the FLSA uses the term “employer” in 
a way that encompasses individuals.  See id. (“em-
ployer” includes “person[s],” which is defined to in-
clude “individual[s],” id. § 203(a)).  That provision, 
however, merely simply establishes that liability un-
der the Act is not strictly limited to corporate enti-
ties—it does not say anything about whether a given 
individual qualifies as a “person acting directly or 
indirectly in the interest of an employer in relation 
to an employee.”  Id. § 203(d).  Obviously the latter 
provision cannot be read too literally—if it were, 
then every low-level shop supervisor would be sub-
ject to personal, joint-and-several liability for his 
employer’s FLSA violations, since all company su-
pervisors act in the interest of the company in rela-
tion to the employees they supervise.  See Baystate, 
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163 F.3d at 679 (if “the significant factor in the per-
sonal liability determination is simply the exercise of 
control by a corporate officer or corporate employee 
over the ‘work situation,’ almost any supervisory or 
managerial employee of a corporation could be held 
personally liable for the unpaid wages of other em-
ployees and the civil penalty related thereto”).   

There is of course no indication that Congress 
meant the statute to be enforced that broadly.  The 
term “employer” must be construed to embody a 
plausible, workable understanding of the individuals 
who may be subjected to liability, and the circum-
stances under which such individual liability may 
attach.  The statute’s language suggests one indis-
pensable limitation on its reach:  personal liability 
applies at most only to those individuals who act “in 
the interest of an employer in relation to an employ-
ee.”  29 U.S.C. § 203(d) (emphasis added).  That 
phrase by its terms excludes individuals who act on-
ly in relation to the enterprise as a whole, and do not 
exercise personal responsibility for the decisions af-
fecting the employees.  See Patel, 803 F.2d at 638 (no 
liability where defendant did not have operational 
control over “compensation of employees or other 
matters ‘in relation to an employee’” (quoting 
§ 203(d))); Wirtz, 322 F.2d at 262 (owner not liable 
where he “had not acted ‘… in the interest of an em-
ployer (the corporation) in relation to an employee’” 
(quoting § 203(d))).    

Furthermore, the penalty provision of the Act 
awards damages against only those “employers” that 
“violate” the minimum wage-and-hour provisions of 
the statute.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  An individual who 
has not taken any action with respect to employees 
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has neither acted “in relation” to those employees 
nor “violated” the statute’s mandates.  There is 
therefore no basis for holding him personally liable 
under the Act. 

B. This Court’s Precedents Preclude The 
Imposition Of Personal FLSA Liability 
Based Solely On General Corporate Con-
trol  

1.  This Court has not directly addressed the 
question whether, and under what circumstances, an 
individual within a company’s chain of command 
may be held personally liable for the company’s 
FLSA violations.  But the Court’s precedents have 
never suggested that § 203(d) was intended to reach 
anything more than joint employers, as in Falk v. 
Brennan, 414 U.S. 190 (1973).  In Falk, the Court 
held that an apartment management company could 
be held liable for unlawful wage-and-hour conditions 
imposed on workers subject to the management 
company’s day-to-day supervision, even though the 
workers were nominally employed by the building 
owners.  Id. at 195.  The management company in 
that situation clearly operated in the interest of the 
owners in relation to the on-site workers, and impos-
ing liability on the management company ensured 
that the entity personally responsible for the work-
ers’ wage-and-hour conditions was held legally liable 
for those conditions.       

Imposing that liability on individuals within a 
single corporate employer serves no such purpose.  
When the corporation as employer is held liable for 
FLSA violations, then the corporation is liable.  
There is simply no legal or practical reason to im-
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pose that same liability on individuals within the 
corporate chain of command, especially when the in-
dividuals were not personally responsible for the 
acts found to be unlawful.1    

2. a.  The Court considered a similar use of the 
term “employer” in an analogous context and did not 
read it as subjecting individuals to personal liability 
for the acts of distinct corporate entities.  Indeed, the 
Court construed the term to achieve the opposite, 
i.e., subjecting corporate entities to vicarious liability 
for the acts of their agents.  In Packard Motor Car 
Co. v. NLRB, 330 U.S. 485, 488 (1947), the Court in-
terpreted the term “employer” in the National Labor 
Relations Act (“NLRA”), 49 Stat. 450 (1935), which 
was defined to “include[] any person acting in the in-
terest of an employer, directly or indirectly.”  The 
Court held that the purpose of the provision was “to 
render employers responsible in labor practices for 
acts of any persons performed in their interests,” and 
was “an adaptation of the ancient maxim of the 
common law, respondeat superior, by which a prin-
cipal is made liable for the tortious acts of his agent 
and the master for the wrongful acts of his servants.”  
330 U.S. at 489.  The Court explained that Congress 
had defined “employers” to include not simply the 
“employing entity, but also others, whether employee 
                                            

1 Similarly, it is no answer to say that Congress in the 
FLSA “did not intend to incorporate the common law parame-
ters of the employer-employee relationship.”  Donovan v. Ag-
new, 712 F.2d 1509, 1513 (1st Cir. 1983).  It may be true that 
Congress wanted the Act to cover more workers than would be 
traditionally encompassed by the common-law master-servant 
concept of “employee,” but that interest does not require enforc-
ing the Act against individuals within an otherwise liable cor-
porate employer. 
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or not, who are ‘acting in the interest of an employ-
er’” in order to ensure that “courts would apply the 
tort rule of respondeat superior” to the “new class of 
wrongful acts to be known as unfair labor practices.”  
Id. 

Nothing in the FLSA—which the Court has rec-
ognized to be “of the same general character” as the 
NLRA, Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S. 
722, 723 (1947)—suggests that Congress meant to 
take a different approach.  As the First Circuit has 
observed, “[i]t makes more sense … to interpret 
[§ 203(d)] as intended to prevent employers from 
shielding themselves from responsibility for the acts 
of their agents,” than it does to read it to “make any 
supervisory employee, even those without any con-
trol over the corporation’s payroll, personally liable 
for the unpaid or deficient wages of other employ-
ees.”  Agnew, 712 F.2d at 1513.  If, contrary to estab-
lished common-law rules of limited liability, Con-
gress meant hold such individuals liable for acts in 
which they played no part, it was required to speak 
much more clearly than it did in the text of the 
FLSA. 

b.  The Second Circuit’s decision imposing per-
sonal liability for corporate FLSA violations based 
merely on petitioner’s general authority over corpo-
rate affairs also conflicts with this Court’s 2003 deci-
sion in Meyer.  The Court in Meyer unanimously re-
fused to “impose[] personal liability without fault 
upon an officer or owner of a residential real estate 
corporation for the unlawful activity of the corpora-
tion’s employee or agent” under the Fair Housing Act 
(“FHA”).  537 U.S. at 282.  The Court explicitly re-
jected the argument that “corporate owners and of-
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ficers” could be held “liable for the unlawful acts of a 
corporate employee simply on the basis that the 
owner or officer controlled (or had the right to con-
trol) the actions of that employee.”  Id. at 286.  Such 
“unusually strict rules” apply “only where Congress 
has specified that such was its intent,” the Court ex-
plained, further noting that Congress had “said 
nothing in the statute or in the legislative history 
about extending vicarious liability in this manner.”  
Id. at 287.  Even though the objective of the FHA 
was “an overriding social priority,” the Court con-
cluded that judgments must be issued “in accordance 
with traditional principles of vicarious liability” ab-
sent a specific statutory instruction to the contrary.  
Id. at 290-91.   

Again, Congress has not instructed otherwise in 
the FLSA.  At most, the Act imposes liability on enti-
ties and individuals who act in the interest of an 
employer in relation to an employee—not individuals 
who act only in relation to the corporation as a 
whole.  It is one thing to say that the FLSA ensures 
that individuals and entities actually responsible for 
an employee’s wage-and-hour conditions are held li-
able for those conditions.  It is another thing entirely 
to say that the FLSA creates a new rule of “reverse 
vicarious liability” that overrides traditional corpo-
rate-law principles of limited liability.  Nothing in 
the text, history, or logic of the statute supports that 
construction. 
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III. THIS CASE PRESENTS A RECURRING 
QUESTION OF NATIONAL IMPORTANCE, 
AND THIS CASE PRESENTS AN IDEAL 
VEHICLE FOR RESOLVING IT 

The standard for imposing personal liability un-
der the FLSA is a recurring issue of national im-
portance, as evidenced by the many published circuit 
precedents already addressing the issue.  Given the 
lax standard for personal liability applicable in mul-
tiple circuits, the issue can arise in virtually any 
case alleging that a corporation has violated the 
FLSA, many thousands of which are filed annually.2  
The significance of the issue is confirmed by the in-
volvement in this case of the U.S. Department of La-
bor, which filed an amicus brief in the court of ap-
peals and participated in oral argument.    

There is no doubting the importance of the issue 
to businesses and the individuals who own and 
manage them.  Severe consequences attach to liabil-
ity under the FLSA.  The Act holds employers liable 
not just for backpay but also for equal amounts in 
liquidated damages, as well as prejudgment interest, 
attorneys’ fees, and costs.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  When 
there are multiple employers, liability is joint and 
several.  See App. 18a.  In addition, the FLSA explic-
itly authorizes plaintiffs to file collective actions that 
are similar to class actions and determine liability 
for an entire class of similarly situated employees.  
29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  Under the standard applied by 
                                            

2 Over 7,000 FLSA civil cases were filed in federal court 
each year between 2011 and 2013.  Federal Judicial Center, 
Federal Judicial Caseload Statistics:  March 31, 2012, at 49 tbl. 
C-2 (2012); B. Gee, Swell in Employment Suits Amplified in 
Mass., Massachusetts Lawyers Weekly, Aug. 15, 2013. 
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the Second, Fifth, Sixth, and Ninth Circuits, there-
fore, owners and officers who exercise no direct re-
sponsibility over company acts that violate the FLSA 
may be forced to personally pay class wages and 
penalties that can total millions of dollars—as this 
case demonstrates.  App. 56a.   

What is more, the significance of the question 
presented is not limited to the FLSA.  Several courts 
of appeals have relied on the interpretation of “em-
ployer” in the FLSA context to determine whether 
individuals may be held personally liable for viola-
tions of other statutes, including the Family and 
Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) and the Employee Re-
tirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”).  E.g., Was-
cura v. Carver, 169 F.3d 683, 685-86 (11th Cir. 1999) 
(FMLA); Leddy v. Standard Drywall, Inc., 875 F.2d 
383, 387-88 (2d Cir. 1989) (ERISA).  The Court 
should take this opportunity to reinforce the long-
established principles of limited liability it has re-
peatedly—and unanimously—announced and ap-
plied. 

This case also presents an ideal vehicle for resolv-
ing the conflict in the courts of appeals.  The Second 
Circuit’s decision was explicitly premised on the 
court’s view, based on the summary judgment rec-
ord, that petitioner “was not personally responsible 
for the FLSA violations that led to this lawsuit.”  
App. 37a.  On that same premise, petitioner could 
not be held personally liable for those violations in 
the First, Seventh, Eighth, or Eleventh Circuits.  In-
deed, the court of appeals recognized that this was a 
“close case” even under the lenient standard it ap-
plied.  App. 36a.  If this Court were to reject the Sec-
ond Circuit’s approach and instead hold that indi-
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viduals may be subjected to personal liability only 
for those corporate FLSA violations for which they 
are personally responsible, the individual judgment 
against petitioner would necessarily be reversed.  

CONCLUSION 
For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ 

of certiorari should be granted. 
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WESLEY, Circuit Judge. 

After the failure of a settlement in a wage-and-
hour case brought by a group of employees of 
Gristede’s supermarkets, the plaintiff employees 
moved for partial summary judgment on the issue of 
whether John Catsimatidis, the chairman and CEO 
of Gristede’s Foods, Inc., could be held personally li-
able for damages.  The case turns on whether Catsi-
matidis is an “employer” under the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 203(d), and the 
New York Labor Law (“NYLL”), N.Y. Lab. Law 
§§ 190(3), 651(6).  The United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York (Crotty, J.) 
granted partial summary judgment for the plaintiffs 
on the issue, establishing that Catsimatidis would be 
held jointly and severally liable for damages along 
with the corporate defendants.  See Torres v. 
Gristede’s Operating Corp., No. 04 Civ. 3316(PAC), 
2011 WL 4571792 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 9, 2011) (“Torres 
III”).  Catsimatidis appeals.  We affirm the district 
court’s decision so far as it established that Catsima-



5a 
 

tidis was an “employer” under the FLSA; we vacate 
and remand the grant of partial summary judgment 
on plaintiffs’ NYLL claims. 

Background 
Catsimatidis is the chairman, president, and 

CEO of Gristede’s Foods, Inc., which operates be-
tween 30 and 35 stores in the New York City metro 
area and has approximately 1700 employees.  Alt-
hough a series of mergers and acquisitions has com-
plicated the question of which companies are respon-
sible for the Gristede’s business and supermarkets, 
the parties have not made corporate structure the 
focus of this case.  They essentially agree that 
Catsimatidis is the owner and corporate head of all 
implicated companies, but they dispute the manner 
and degree of his control over the stores and employ-
ees. 

In 2004, a group of then-current and former em-
ployees of Gristede’s supermarkets sued several 
companies involved in operating the stores.  The em-
ployees also sued three individual defendants:  
Catsimatidis, Gristede’s District Manager James 
Monos, and Gristede’s Vice President Gallo Balseca.  
The district court certified a class composed of “[a]ll 
persons employed by defendants as Department 
Managers or Co-Managers who were not paid proper 
overtime premium compensation for all hours that 
they worked in excess of forty in a workweek any 
time between April 30, 1998 and the date of final 
judgment in this matter (the ‘class period’).”  Torres 
v. Gristede’s Operating Corp., No. 04 Civ. 3316(PAC), 
2006 WL 2819730, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 2006) 
(“Torres I”) (quotation marks omitted).  In this deci-
sion, the court noted that the parties disputed the 
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duties of co-managers and department managers, 
though the scope of plaintiffs’ duties are not at issue 
in this appeal. 

After two-and-a-half years of litigation, the dis-
trict court granted summary judgment for the plain-
tiffs on their FLSA and NYLL claims, which con-
cerned reduction of hours, withholding of overtime, 
misclassification as exempt employees, and retalia-
tion.  See Torres v. Gristede’s Operating Corp., 628 F. 
Supp. 2d 447, 461-63, 475 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (“Torres 
II”).  The court held that plaintiffs were entitled to 
liquidated damages, the amount of which would be 
determined in future proceedings. Id. at 462 n.14, 
465.  Plaintiffs reserved the right to move separately 
for a determination that the individual defendants 
were individually liable as joint employers.  Id. at 
453 n.2. 

Following the summary judgment order, the par-
ties reached a settlement agreement, which the dis-
trict court approved.  The corporate defendants later 
defaulted on their payment obligations under the 
agreement.  Defendants sought to modify the settle-
ment, but the district court denied their request.  
Plaintiffs then moved for partial summary judgment 
on Catsimatidis’s personal liability as an employer. 

The district court granted the motion for reasons 
both stated on the record at the conclusion of oral 
argument on the motion, see Special App’x at 43-46, 
and memorialized in a written decision, see Torres 
III.  The reasons included the fact that Catsimatidis 
“hired managerial employees,” “signed all paychecks 
to the class members,” had the “power to close or sell 
Gristede’s stores,” and “routinely review[ed] finan-
cial reports, work[ed] at his office in Gristede’s cor-



7a 
 

porate office and generally preside[d] over the day to 
day operations of the company.”  Torres III, 2011 WL 
4571792, at *2.  According to the district court, “[f]or 
the purposes of applying the total circumstances 
test, it does not matter that Mr. Catsimatidis has 
delegated powers to others[; w]hat is critical is that 
Mr. Catsimatidis has those powers to delegate.” Id. 
(citation omitted).  The court concluded that “[t]here 
is no area of Gristede’s which is not subject to 
[Catsimatidis’s] control, whether [or not] he chooses 
to exercise it,” and that, therefore, Catsimatidis “had 
operational control and, as such, [] may be held to be 
an employer.”  Id. at *3.1 

                                                 
1 In its oral ruling and accompanying order, the district 

court granted summary judgment finding Catsimatidis indi-
vidually liable as an “employer” under the NYLL, but the court 
did not explain its reasons beyond what might be inferred from 
its discussion setting forth its reasoning in the FLSA context.  
See Torres III, 2011 WL 4571792, at *1; Special App’x at 46-47. 
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Discussion2 
I. Definition of “employee” under the FLSA 

The Supreme Court has recognized “that broad 
coverage [under the FLSA] is essential to accomplish 
the [statute’s] goal of outlawing from interstate 
commerce goods produced under conditions that fall 
below minimum standards of decency.”  Tony & Su-
san Alamo Found v. Sec’y of Labor, 471 U.S. 290, 296 
(1985).  Accordingly, the Court “has consistently con-
strued the Act liberally to apply to the furthest 
reaches consistent with congressional direction.”  Id. 
(quotation marks omitted).  “The common law agen-
cy test was found too restrictive to encompass the 
broader definition of the employment relationship 
contained in the [FLSA].”  Frankel v. Bally, Inc., 987 
F.2d 86, 89 (2d Cir. 1993).  Instead, the statute “de-
fines the verb ‘employ’ expansively to mean ‘suffer or 
permit to work.’”  Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. 
Darden, 503 U.S. 318, 326 (1992) (quoting 29 U.S.C. 
§ 203(g)).  Unfortunately, however, the statute’s def-
inition of “employer” relies on the very word it seeks 
to define:  “‘Employer’ includes any person acting di-

                                                 
2 “We review an award of summary judgment de novo, and 

we will uphold the judgment only if the evidence, viewed in the 
light most favorable to the party against whom it is entered, 
demonstrates that there are no genuine issues of material fact 
and that the judgment was warranted as a matter of law.”  
Barfield v. NYC Health & Hosps. Corp., 537 F.3d 132, 140 (2d 
Cir. 2008) (citing Fed R. Civ. P. 56(c); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 
477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986)).  “The nonmoving party must set 
forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for 
trial, and this Court must view the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the nonmoving party and draw all reasonable in-
ferences in its favor.”  Rubens v. Mason, 527 F.3d 252, 254 (2d 
Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 
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rectly or indirectly in the interest of an employer in 
relation to an employee.”  29 U.S.C. § 203(d).  The 
statute nowhere defines “employer” in the first in-
stance. 

The Supreme Court noted early on that the FLSA 
contains “no definition that solves problems as to the 
limits of the employer-employee relationship under 
the Act.”  Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331 
U.S. 722, 728 (1947).  The Court has also observed 
“that the ‘striking breadth’ of the FLSA’s definition 
of ‘employ’ ‘stretches the meaning of ‘employee’ to 
cover some parties who might not qualify as such 
under a strict application of traditional agency law 
principles’ in order to effectuate the remedial pur-
poses of the act.’”  Barfield, 537 F.3d at 141 (quoting 
Darden, 503 U.S. at 326) (internal citation omitted). 

“Accordingly, the Court has instructed that the 
determination of whether an employer-employee re-
lationship exists for purposes of the FLSA should be 
grounded in ‘economic reality rather than technical 
concepts.’”  Id. (quoting Goldberg v. Whitaker House 
Coop., Inc., 366 U.S. 28, 33 (1961)).  The “economic 
reality” test applies equally to whether workers are 
employees and to whether managers or owners are 
employers.  See Herman v. RSR Sec. Servs. Ltd., 172 
F.3d 132, 139 (2d Cir. 1999). 

“[T]he determination of the [employment] rela-
tionship does not depend on such isolated factors” as 
where work is done or how compensation is divided 
“but rather upon the circumstances of the whole ac-
tivity.”  Rutherford, 331 U.S. at 730.  Some early 
cases concerned managerial efforts to distance them-
selves from workers in an apparent effort to escape 
the FLSA’s coverage.  For example, in Goldberg, the 
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Supreme Court considered whether a manufacturing 
cooperative was an “employer” of “homeworker” 
members who created knitted and embroidered 
goods in their homes and were paid by the month on 
a rate-per-dozen basis.  366 U.S. at 28-29.  The Court 
concluded that this constituted an employer-
employee relationship because management’s au-
thority made “the device of the cooperative too 
transparent to survive the statutory definition of 
‘employ’ and the Regulations governing homework.”  
Id. at 33.  “In short, if the ‘economic reality’ rather 
than ‘technical concepts’ is to be the test of employ-
ment, these homeworkers are employees.”  Id. (in-
ternal citations omitted).  Similarly, the Court noted 
in Rutherford that “[w]here the work done, in its es-
sence, follows the usual path of an employee, putting 
on an ‘independent contractor’ label does not take 
the worker from the protection of the Act.”  331 U.S. 
at 729. 

The Second Circuit “has treated employment for 
FLSA purposes as a flexible concept to be deter-
mined on a case-by-case basis by review of the totali-
ty of the circumstances”; we have “identified differ-
ent sets of relevant factors based on the factual chal-
lenges posed by particular cases.”  Barfield, 537 F.3d 
at 141-42. 

In Carter v. Dutchess Community College, 735 
F.2d 8 (2d Cir. 1984), we identified factors that are 
likely to be relevant to the question of whether a de-
fendant is an “employer.”  In that case, prison in-
mates teaching classes in a program that was man-
aged by a college claimed the college was their em-
ployer.  The district court rejected this assertion be-
cause “the college had only qualified control over the 
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inmate instructors; the Department of Correctional 
Services always maintained ultimate control.”  Bar-
field, 537 F.3d at 142 (describing Carter) (quotation 
marks omitted).  This Court, however, concluded 
that the “ultimate control” rule “would not comport 
with the ‘remedial’ purpose of the FLSA, which Con-
gress intended to ‘have the widest possible impact in 
the national economy.’”  Id. (quoting Carter, 735 F.2d 
at 12).  Instead, we established four factors to de-
termine the “economic reality” of an employment re-
lationship:  “whether the alleged employer (1) had 
the power to hire and fire the employees, (2) super-
vised and controlled employee work schedules or 
conditions of employment, (3) determined the rate 
and method of payment, and (4) maintained em-
ployment records.”  Id. (quoting Carter, 735 F.2d at 
12).3 

Barfield also discusses the factors this court has 
used “to distinguish between independent contrac-
tors and employees,” 537 F.3d at 143 (citing Brock v. 
Superior Care, Inc., 840 F.2d 1054, 1058-59 (2d Cir. 
1988)), and “to assess whether an entity that lacked 
formal control nevertheless exercised functional con-

                                                 
3 Although the Carter court did not ultimately conclude 

that the prisoners were employees of the college, it noted that 
the following facts about the college “may be sufficient to war-
rant FLSA coverage” and certainly presented issues of material 
fact on the subject:  the college “made the initial proposal to 
‘employ’ workers; suggested a wage as to which there was ‘no 
legal impediment’; developed eligibility criteria; recommended 
several inmates for the tutoring positions; was not required to 
take any inmate it did not want; decided how many sessions, 
and for how long, an inmate would be permitted to tutor; and 
sent the compensation directly to the inmate’s prison account.”  
735 F.2d at 15. 
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trol over a worker,” id. (citing Zheng v. Liberty Ap-
parel Co., 355 F.3d 61, 72 (2d Cir. 2003)).4  None of 
the factors used in any of these cases, however, com-
prise a “rigid rule for the identification of an FLSA 
employer.”  Id.  “To the contrary, . . . they provide ‘a 
nonexclusive and overlapping set of factors’ to en-
sure that the economic realities test mandated by 
the Supreme Court is sufficiently comprehensive and 
flexible to give proper effect to the broad language of 
the FLSA.”  Id. (quoting Zheng, 355 F.3d at 75-76). 

a. Individual liability 
None of the cases above dealt specifically with the 

question we confront here:  whether an individual 
within a company that undisputedly employs a 
                                                 

4 In Zheng, the court considered whether a garment manu-
facturer that contracted out the last phase of its production 
process to workers including the plaintiffs was an “employer” 
under the FLSA.  It concluded that the relevant factors in such 
an instance were 

(1) whether [the manufacturer]’s premises and equip-
ment were used for the plaintiffs’ work; (2) whether the 
Contractor Corporations had a business that could or 
did shift as a unit from one putative joint employer to 
another; (3) the extent to which plaintiffs performed a 
discrete line-job that was integral to [the manufactur-
er]’s process of production; (4) whether responsibility 
under the contracts could pass from one subcontractor 
to another without material changes; (5) the degree to 
which the [manufacturer] or [its] agents supervised 
plaintiffs’ work; and (6) whether plaintiffs worked ex-
clusively or predominantly for [the manufacturer]. 

Zheng, 355 F.3d at 72.  These factors highlight the flexible and 
comprehensive nature of the economic realities test in deter-
mining when an entity is an “employer” (in this case, whether 
the manufacturer was a “joint employer” along with another 
corporation) but are not directly implicated here. 
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worker is personally liable for damages as that 
worker’s “employer.”  The only case from our Circuit 
to confront the question squarely is RSR, 172 F.3d 
132.  RSR provided guards, pre-employment screen-
ing, and other security services.  It was sued for 
FLSA violations with regard to its security guards.  
Its chairman of the board, Portnoy, was found by the 
district court after a bench trial to be an “employer” 
under the statute.  We affirmed, in a decision that 
both applied the four-factor test from Carter and 
noted other factors bearing upon the “overarching 
concern [of] whether the alleged employer possessed 
the power to control the workers in question.”  Id. at 
139. 

As background, we noted that “[a]lthough 
Portnoy exercised broad authority over RSR opera-
tions . . . , he was not directly involved in the daily 
supervision of the security guards.”  Id. at 136.  
Nonetheless, because “he was the only principal who 
had bank credit, he exercised financial control over 
the company.”  Id.  “Thus, he had authority over” the 
operations manager, who directly supervised the 
guards.  Id.  “Portnoy kept himself apprised of RSR 
operations by receiving periodic reports [including] 
work orders, memos, investigation reports, and in-
voices concerning the business operations, as well as 
weekly timesheets of [a manager’s] duties.”  Id. at 
137.  He also “referred a few individuals to RSR as 
potential security guard employees,” “assigned 
guards to cover specific clients, sometimes set the 
rates clients were charged for those services, gave [a 
manager] instructions about guard operations, and 
forwarded complaints about guards to” a manager.  
Id. 
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Portnoy also “signed payroll checks on at least 
three occasions” and “established a payment system 
by which clients who wanted undercover operatives 
would pay” Portnoy’s separate labor-relations firm.  
Id.  Additionally, Portnoy “represented himself to 
outside parties as” being “the ‘boss’ of RSR” by “al-
lowing his name to be used in sales literature, by 
representing to potential clients that he was a prin-
cipal with control over company operations . . . and 
by giving [a manager] instructions with respect to [] 
clients’ security needs.”  Id. 

We determined that at least three of the four 
Carter factors applied.  First, Portnoy had hired em-
ployees, and although this “involved mainly manage-
rial staff, the fact that he hired individuals who were 
in charge of the guards [was] a strong indication of 
control.”  Id. at 140.  Second, Portnoy had, “on occa-
sion, supervised and controlled employee work 
schedules and the conditions of employment.”  Id.  
Third, he had “participate[d] in the method of 
pay[ing]” the guards, even though he was not in-
volved in determining their salaries, because he had 
previously “ordered a stop to the illegal pay practice 
of including security guards on 1099 forms as inde-
pendent contractors,” and he “had the authority to 
sign paychecks throughout the relevant period.”  Id.  
Although there was no evidence that Portnoy had 
been involved in maintaining employment records, 
we confirmed that the fact that “this fourth factor is 
not met is not dispositive.”  Id.  The “‘economic reali-
ty’ test encompasses the totality of circumstances, no 
one of which is exclusive.”  Id. at 139.  In sum, we 
determined that Portnoy was “not only a 50 percent 
stockowner; he had direct involvement with the se-
curity guard operations from time to time and was 
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generally involved with all of RSR’s operations.”  Id. 
at 141. 

RSR also highlighted two legal questions rele-
vant here.  The first concerns the scope of an indi-
vidual’s authority or “operational control” over a 
company — at what level of a corporate hierarchy, 
and in what relationship with plaintiff employees, 
must an individual possess power in order to be cov-
ered by the FLSA?  The second inquiry, related but 
distinct, concerns hypothetical versus actual power:  
to what extent and with what frequency must an in-
dividual actually use the power he or she possesses 
over employees to be considered an employer? 

i. Operational Control 
In addition to applying the Carter test, RSR not-

ed the district court’s recognition that Portnoy exer-
cised direct authority over the two persons most re-
sponsible for managing the security guards, as well 
as the fact that “[b]ecause [Portnoy] controlled the 
company financially, it was no idle threat when he 
testified that he could have dissolved the company if 
[one of the managers] had not followed his direc-
tions.”  Id. at 140 (emphasis added).  Accordingly, we 
emphasized that we rejected Portnoy’s argument 
“that evidence showing his authority over manage-
ment, supervision, and oversight of RSR’s affairs in 
general is irrelevant, and that only evidence indicat-
ing his direct control over the guards should be con-
sidered.”  Id.  We concluded that this formulation 
“ignores the relevance of the totality of the circum-
stances in determining Portnoy’s operational control 
of RSR’s employment of the guards.”  Id.  We also 
noted that “operational control” had been cited as 
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relevant by other circuits considering the question of 
individual liability under the FLSA.  See id. 

“Operational control” is at the heart of this case.  
Catsimatidis’s core argument is that he was a high-
level employee who made symbolic or, at most, gen-
eral corporate decisions that only affected the lives of 
the plaintiffs through an attenuated chain of but-for 
causation.  Although Catsimatidis undisputedly pos-
sessed broad control over Gristede’s corporate strat-
egy, including the power to decide to take the com-
pany public, to open stores, and to carry certain 
types of merchandise, he contends that a FLSA “em-
ployer” must exercise decision-making in a “day-to-
day” capacity.  Appellant’s Br. at 3.  By this, he ap-
pears to mean decisions about individual store-level 
operations, close to, if not actually including, the 
particular working conditions and compensation 
practices of the employees themselves.  Plaintiffs 
counter that many cases have found individuals with 
“operational control” on a more general level to be 
employers.  Appellees’ Br. at 28-31. 

Most circuits to confront this issue have acknowl-
edged — and plaintiffs do not dispute — that a com-
pany owner, president, or stockholder must have at 
least some degree of involvement in the way the 
company interacts with employees to be a FLSA 
“employer.”  Many cases rely on Wirtz v. Pure Ice 
Co., 322 F.2d 259, 262 (8th Cir. 1963), for this propo-
sition.  In Wirtz, the court concluded that the indi-
vidual defendant was not an employer even though 
he was the “controlling stockholder and dominating 
figure” because although he “could have taken over 
and supervised the relationship between the corpo-
ration and its employees had he decided to do so,” he 
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did not.  Id. (quotation marks omitted).  The defend-
ant visited the facility at issue a few times per year 
but “had nothing to do with the hiring of the employ-
ees or fixing their wages or hours,” and he “left the 
matter of compliance with the Fair Labor Standards 
Act up to the various managers of the businesses in 
which he had an interest.”  Id. at 262-63.  The court 
noted, however, that if it were to consider “a combi-
nation of stock ownership, management, direction 
and the right to hire and fire employees, then a con-
trary conclusion would be well supported.”  Id. at 
263. 

In RSR, we cited three cases with holdings in ac-
cordance with Wirtz in resolving the “operational 
control” issue.  First, in Donovan v. Sabine Irrigation 
Co., 695 F.2d 190, 194-95 (5th Cir. 1983), the Fifth 
Circuit determined that an individual without an in-
terest in the employer corporation could be held lia-
ble if he “effectively dominates its administration or 
otherwise acts, or has the power to act, on behalf of 
the corporation vis-a-vis its employees” — or if he 
lacked that power but “independently exercised con-
trol over the work situation.”  The Sabine court 
found the individual defendant liable because he 
“indirectly controlled many matters traditionally 
handled by an employer in relation to an employee 
(such as payroll, insurance, and income tax mat-
ters),” noting also that the defendant’s “financial 
gymnastics directly affected Sabine’s employees by 
making it possible for Sabine to meet its payroll and 
keep its employees supplied with the equipment and 
materials necessary to perform their jobs.”  Id. at 
195.  (quotation marks omitted). 
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Second, in Dole v. Elliott Travel & Tours, Inc., 
942 F.2d 962, 966 (6th Cir. 1991), the Sixth Circuit 
was unmoved by the protestations of an individual 
defendant who testified that he “made major corpo-
rate decisions” but “did not have day-to-day control 
of specific operations.”  The court found that the de-
fendant’s responsibilities, which included determin-
ing employee salaries, constituted “operational con-
trol of significant aspects of the corporation’s day to 
day functions.”  Id. (quotation marks omitted) (em-
phasis in original). 

Finally, in Donovan v. Agnew, 712 F.2d 1509, 
1511 (1st Cir. 1983), the First Circuit imposed liabil-
ity on individual defendants “who together were 
President, Treasurer, Secretary and sole members of 
the Board” of the defendant company.  One of the de-
fendants had been “personally involved in decisions 
about layoffs and employee overtime hours,” id., and 
the defendants together had “operational control of 
significant aspects of the corporation’s day to day 
functions, including compensation of employees, and 
[] personally made decisions to continue operations 
despite financial adversity during the period of non-
payment,” id. at 1514. 

Plaintiffs in our case place particular emphasis 
on the statement by the Agnew court that “[t]he 
overwhelming weight of authority is that a corporate 
officer with operational control of a corporation’s 
covered enterprise is an employer along with the 
corporation, jointly and severally liable under the 
FLSA for unpaid wages.”5  Id. at 1511.  Although 
                                                 

5 This language was cited by our Circuit in a case concern-
ing the meaning of the word “employer” in the context of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”), in which 
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this appears to suggest that any amount of corporate 
control is sufficient to establish FLSA liability, the 
First Circuit warned against taking the FLSA’s cov-
erage too far, noting that “the Act’s broadly inclusive 
definition of ‘employer’” could, if “[t]aken literally 
and applied in this context[,] . . . make any supervi-
sory employee, even those without any control over 
the corporation’s payroll, personally liable for the 
unpaid or deficient wages of other employees.”  Id. at 
1513. 

Drawing on this language, the First Circuit later 
concluded that individuals who had “exercised some 
degree of supervisory control over the workers” and 
been “responsible for overseeing various administra-
tive aspects of the business” but had not demon-
strated other important characteristics — “in partic-
ular, the personal responsibility for making decisions 
about the conduct of the business that contributed to 
the violations of the Act” — were not personally lia-
ble under the FLSA.  Baystate Alternative Staffing, 
Inc. v. Herman, 163 F.3d 668, 678 (1st Cir. 1998).  
The court rejected an “expansive application of the 
definition of an ‘employer’” that would find that “the 
significant factor in the personal liability determina-

                                                                                                    
we noted that “[i]n FLSA cases, courts have consistently held 
that a corporate officer with operational control who is directly 
responsible for a failure to pay statutorily required wages is an 
‘employer’ along with the corporation, jointly and severally lia-
ble for the shortfall.”  Leddy v. Standard Drywall, Inc., 875 
F.2d 383, 387 (2d Cir. 1989) (citing Agnew, 712 F.2d at 1511).  
Because Leddy did not require or contain any actual analysis of 
the FLSA, however, this statement does not constitute a hold-
ing that liability on the basis of “operational control” requires 
an individual to have been directly responsible for FLSA viola-
tions. 
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tion is simply the exercise of control by a corporate 
officer or corporate employee over the ‘work situa-
tion.’”  Id. at 679.  No other decision has gone as far 
as Baystate; most courts have endeavored to strike a 
balance between upholding the broad remedial goals 
of the statute and ensuring that a liable individual 
has some relationship with plaintiff employees’ work 
situation. 

For example, in Gray v. Powers, 673 F.3d 352, 
354-57 (5th Cir. 2012), the court found that the co-
owner of a company that owned a nightclub was not 
a bartender’s “employer” despite being a signatory 
on the corporate account and “occasionally sign[ing] 
several pages of pre-printed checks.”  The individual 
defendant had little control over the bar and its em-
ployees except to direct a bartender to serve certain 
customers on several occasions when he was at the 
bar.  Id. at 354.  Similarly, in Patel v. Wargo, 803 
F.2d 632, 638 (11th Cir. 1986), the Eleventh Circuit 
held that an individual who was both president and 
vice president of a corporation, as well as a director 
and principal stockholder, was not an employer be-
cause he did not “have operational control of signifi-
cant aspects of [the company’s] day-to-day functions, 
including compensation of employees or other mat-
ters ‘in relation to an employee.’” 

By contrast, in Reich v. Circle C. Investments, 
Inc., 998 F.2d 324, 329 (5th Cir. 1993), the court 
found that a non-owner of a company that had in-
vested in a nightclub had exercised sufficient “con-
trol over the work situation” as the “driving force” 
behind the company.  The court cited evidence that 
the individual hired employees, gave them instruc-
tions (including specific songs for dancers’ routines), 
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and signed their payroll checks.  Id.  He had also 
removed money from corporate safes, “ordered one 
employee to refrain from keeping records of the 
tip-outs,” and “spoke[n] for [the company] during the 
Secretary’s investigation of possible FLSA viola-
tions.”  Id. 

These cases reaffirm the logic behind our holding 
in RSR, which focused on defendant Portnoy’s “oper-
ational control of RSR’s employment of the guards,” 
see RSR, 172 F.3d at 140 (emphasis added), rather 
than simply operational control of the company.  Ev-
idence that an individual is an owner or officer of a 
company, or otherwise makes corporate decisions 
that have nothing to do with an employee’s function, 
is insufficient to demonstrate “employer” status.  In-
stead, to be an “employer,” an individual defendant 
must possess control over a company’s actual “opera-
tions” in a manner that relates to a plaintiff’s em-
ployment.  It is appropriate, as we implicitly recog-
nized in RSR, to require some degree of individual 
involvement in a company in a manner that affects 
employment-related factors such as workplace condi-
tions and operations, personnel, or compensation — 
even if this appears to establish a higher threshold 
for individual liability than for corporate “employer” 
status. 

The fundamental concern in the initial cases con-
struing the FLSA was preventing a business entity 
from causing workers to engage in work without the 
protections of the statute.  It was an “economic reali-
ty” that the “homework” cooperative in Goldberg 
functioned as the workers’ employer because it paid 
them to create clothing, even if the compensation 
structure technically circumvented agency-law con-
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cepts of formal employment.  See Goldberg, 366 U.S. 
at 31 (stating that the Court would be “remiss . . . if 
we construed the Act loosely so as to permit this 
homework to be done in ways not permissible under 
the Regulations”); see also United States v. Rosen-
wasser, 323 U.S. 360, 363 (1945) (“A worker is as 
much an employee when paid by the piece as he is 
when paid by the hour.”).  This concern is not as 
pressing when considering the liability for damages 
of an individual within a company that itself is un-
disputedly the plaintiffs’ employer. 

Even in the individual-liability context, however, 
“the remedial nature of the [FLSA] . . . warrants an 
expansive interpretation of its provisions so that 
they will have ‘the widest possible impact in the na-
tional economy.’”  RSR, 172 F.3d at 139 (quoting 
Carter, 735 F.2d at 12).  Nothing in RSR, or in the 
FLSA itself, requires an individual to have been per-
sonally complicit in FLSA violations; the broad re-
medial purposes behind the statute counsel against 
such a requirement.  The statute provides an empty 
guarantee absent a financial incentive for individu-
als with control, even in the form of delegated au-
thority, to comply with the law, and courts have con-
tinually emphasized the extraordinarily generous 
interpretation the statute is to be given.  Nor is “only 
evidence indicating [an individual’s] direct control 
over the [plaintiff employees] [to] be considered.”  
RSR, 172 F.3d at 140.  Instead, “evidence showing 
[an individual’s] authority over management, super-
vision, and oversight of [a company’s] affairs in gen-
eral” is relevant to “the totality of the circumstances 
in determining [the individual’s] operational control 
of [the company’s] employment of [the plaintiff em-
ployees].”  Id. 
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A person exercises operational control over em-
ployees if his or her role within the company, and 
the decisions it entails, directly affect the nature or 
conditions of the employees’ employment.  Although 
this does not mean that the individual “employer” 
must be responsible for managing plaintiff employ-
ees — or, indeed, that he or she must have directly 
come into contact with the plaintiffs, their workplac-
es, or their schedules — the relationship between the 
individual’s operational function and the plaintiffs’ 
employment must be closer in degree than simple 
but-for causation.  Although the answer in any par-
ticular case will depend, of course, on the totality of 
the circumstances, the analyses in the cases dis-
cussed above, as well as the responsibilities enumer-
ated in the Carter factors, provide guidance for 
courts determining when an individual’s actions rise 
to this level. 

ii. Potential Power 
In RSR, we noted that “operational control” need 

not be exercised constantly for an individual to be 
liable under the FLSA: 

[Employer] status does not require continuous 
monitoring of employees, looking over their 
shoulders at all times, or any sort of absolute 
control of one’s employees.  Control may be re-
stricted, or exercised only occasionally, with-
out removing the employment relationship 
from the protections of the FLSA, since such 
limitations on control do not diminish the sig-
nificance of its existence. 

172 F.3d at 139 (quotation marks and alteration 
omitted).  The district court in this case appears to 
have relied on this language in stating that “[w]hat 
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is critical is that Mr. Catsimatidis has [certain] pow-
ers to delegate” and that “[t]here is no area of 
Gristede’s which is not subject to his control, wheth-
er [or not] he chooses to exercise it.”  Torres III, 2011 
WL 4571792 at *2-3.  The parties also dispute the 
importance of evidence indicating that Catsimatidis 
only rarely exercised much of the power he pos-
sessed. 

Employer power that is “restricted or exercised 
only occasionally” does not mean “never exercised.”  
In Donovan v. Janitorial Services, Inc., 672 F.2d 528, 
531 (5th Cir. 1982), the Fifth Circuit noted that the 
company owner’s “considerable investment in the 
company gives him ultimate, if latent, authority over 
its affairs,” and the fact that he had “exercised that 
authority only occasionally, through firing one em-
ployee, reprimanding others, and engaging in some 
direct supervision of Johnson Disposal drivers, does 
not diminish the significance of its existence.”  In 
Superior Care, this court noted that although repre-
sentatives of the defendant business, a nurse-
staffing company, visited job sites only infrequently, 
the company had “unequivocally expressed the right 
to supervise the nurses’ work, and the nurses were 
well aware that they were subject to such checks as 
well as to regular review of their nursing notes.”  840 
F.2d at 1060.  “An employer does not need to look 
over his workers’ shoulders every day in order to ex-
ercise control.”  Id.  Similarly, in Carter, we rejected 
the proposition that the community college was not 
employing prison inmates solely because the prison 
had “ultimate control” over the prisoners, reasoning 
that the community college also made decisions that 
affected the prisoners’ work.  735 F.2d at 13-14. 
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The Eleventh Circuit has squarely held that even 
when a defendant “could have played a greater role 
in the day-to-day operations of the [] facility if he 
had desired, . . . unexercised authority is insufficient 
to establish liability as an employer.”  Alvarez Perez 
v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 515 F.3d 
1150, 1161 (11th Cir. 2008).  The Alvarez court found 
that an officer in a company that owned a kennel 
club was not an employer, in part because even 
though he might have had the authority to do so, he 
“had not taken part in the day-to-day operations of 
the facility, had not been involved in the supervision 
or hiring and firing of employees, and had not de-
termined their compensation.”  Id. 

Unlike Alvarez, RSR does not state unambigu-
ously that unexercised authority is insufficient to es-
tablish FLSA liability, and we see no need to do so 
here in light of the evidence of the authority that 
Catsimatidis did exercise.  Nonetheless, all of the 
cases discussed indicate that the manifestation of, 
or, at the least, a clear delineation of an individual’s 
power over employees is an important and telling 
factor in the “economic reality” test.  Ownership, or a 
stake in a company, is insufficient to establish that 
an individual is an “employer” without some in-
volvement in the company’s employment of the em-
ployees. 
II.  Catsimatidis as “employer” 

“Using this ‘economic reality’ test, we must decide 
whether [Catsimatidis] is an employer under the 
FLSA.”  See RSR, 172 F.3d at 140.  Is there “evi-
dence showing his authority over management, su-
pervision, and oversight of [Gristede’s] affairs in 
general,” see id., as well as evidence under the 
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Carter framework or any other factors that reflect 
Catsimatidis’s exercise of direct control over the 
plaintiff employees? 

a. Catsimatidis’s overall authority 
Catsimatidis is the chairman, president, and 

CEO of Gristede’s Foods, Inc.  Joint App’x 1016.6  He 
does not report to anyone else at Gristede’s.  Id. at 
1794.  Catsimatidis personally owns the building in 
which Gristede’s headquarters is located.  Id. at 
1789-90.  His office is in that building, shared with 
Charles Criscuolo, Gristede’s COO.  Id. at 1793-94.  
Catsimatidis was “usually there for part of the day, 
at least [four] days a week.”  Id. at 1334.  The human 
resources and payroll department is located in the 
same building.  Id. at 1794-5.  Regarding his duties, 
Catsimatidis testified:  “I do the banking.  I do the 
real estate.  I do the financial. . . . I come up with 
concepts for merchandising. . . . I’m there every day 
if there is a problem,” including problems with build-
ings, problems with the “Department of Consumer 
Affairs, governmental relations,” and “[p]roblems 
with vendors, relationships with vendors, it takes up 
most of the time.”  Id. at 1800-01. 

A series of subordinate managers reported to 
Catsimatidis but did not appear to have an extensive 
amount of interaction with him.  Catsimatidis spoke 
to Criscuolo every day because they shared an office.  
Id. at 1797.  Catsimatidis testified that Vice Presi-
dent Gallo Balseca “runs operations” and was “in the 

                                                 
6 Although Catsimatidis’s and other employees’ functions 

within Gristede’s appear to have shifted during the lengthy 
pendency of this lawsuit, all references are to the period rele-
vant to the case. 
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stores every day,” and that the district managers re-
ported to Balseca.  Id. at 1796.  Balseca reported to 
Criscuolo, but Catsimatidis rarely spoke directly to 
Balseca.  Id. at 1794, 1797.  Catsimatidis testified 
that the company’s director of security “reports to 
the chief operating officer on a day-to-day basis, but 
if there is something he thinks I should know about, 
he would call and tell me.”  Id. at 1809. Catsimatidis 
occasionally sat in on merchandising and operations 
meetings.  Id. at 1799. 

Catsimatidis stayed apprised of how Gristede’s 
was doing, reviewing the overall profit and loss 
statements as well as the “sales to purchases” 
statements of particular stores.  He received “weekly 
gross margin reports from all the perishable de-
partments” and “a comprehensive P[rofit] and L[oss] 
report on a quarterly basis” that he studied in depth 
and sometimes used to make general recommenda-
tions.  Id. at 1849.  As Executive Director of Human 
Resources and Asset Protection Renee Flores stated, 
“if there is a store that buys more than they sell, and 
it’s a consistent thing, he may say, ‘You know what, 
you might want to take a look at that, because 
they’re buying more than they’re selling.’”  Id. at 
1450-51. 

Catsimatidis testified that he made “big picture” 
“merchandising decisions, like do we, for the next six 
months, push Coca-Cola or push Pepsi-Cola?” and 
“the decisions on having pharmacies in the stores.”  
Id. at 1815.  He testified that after making this sort 
of decision, he would tell Criscuolo or “yell it out 
when they have the [merchandising meeting]” in 
their shared office.  Id. at 1816.  He might also “yell 
out to go out and do more sales.”  Id. at 1817. 
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In general, employees agreed, as Executive Vice 
President Robert Zorn testified, that Catsimatidis 
“has whatever privileges an owner of a company has” 
to “make ultimate decisions as to how the company 
is run,” and that there was “no reason to believe that 
if he chose to make a decision anybody there has the 
power to override him.”  Id. at 1329.  They also 
agreed that Catsimatidis has the power to “shut 
down a store” or “sell a store if he felt that was the 
appropriate thing to do.”  Id. at 1370.7 

b. Involvement with stores 
Although Catsimatidis did not exercise manage-

rial control in stores on the day-to-day level of a 
manager, the evidence demonstrates that he exer-
cised influence in specific stores on multiple occa-
sions.  For example, he made suggestions regarding 

                                                 
7 At oral argument and in its written decision, the district 

court placed substantial reliance on an affidavit that Catsima-
tidis submitted in a separate lawsuit, a trademark action 
brought by Trader Joe’s Company after it found out about a 
Gristede’s plan to re-open a former Gristede’s store under the 
name “Gristede’s Trader John’s.”  The district court empha-
sized that the affidavit, which discussed the process by which 
Catsimatidis had come up with the idea, indicated that Catsi-
matidis has the power to “set prices for goods offered for sale,” 
“select the decor for the stores,” and “control any store’s signage 
and advertising.”  Torres III, 2011 WL 4571792, at *1.  Alt-
hough the parties dispute the significance and admissibility of 
the affidavit, it is not necessary to our decision.  The affidavit 
indicates that Catsimatidis had the power to open a new store 
that was generally intended to offer “items at prices materially 
lower than comparable items in our other Gristede[’]s stores.”  
Joint App’x 3752.  This only underscores the implication of the 
evidence we have already discussed:  that Catsimatidis pos-
sessed the ability to control Gristede’s operations at a high lev-
el. 
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how products are displayed in stores.  In general, he 
testified that he focused on “driv[ing] sales, driv[ing] 
product, get[ting] more sales out of the stores” 
through techniques such as “buying a Coca-Cola at 
[the] right price, and [] put[ting] it on a front end 
display at the right price.”  Id. at 1819. 

Catsimatidis testified specifically that “when [he] 
used to go around the stores, [he] used to make 
comments to the store managers about displays,” 
telling them, for example, “if you put up this prod-
uct, you might sell $100 a week.”  Id. at 1828.  He 
would make visits to “five or ten” stores on Saturday 
mornings, staying about ten minutes in each one.  
Id.  He referred to these as “just [] goodwill visit[s], 
merchandising, sales, what are we doing right, what 
are we doing wrong, what can we do better.”  Id. at 
1831-32.  His deposition also contained the following 
exchange: 

Q:  Why did you want to visit every store? 
A:  To check the merchandising. 
Q:  Can’t the store managers take care of that 
themselves? 
A:  If the store managers did it perfectly, then 
I wouldn’t have to visit the stores. 
Q:  But you have a level of trust in the store 
managers, right? 
A:  You hope so, yes. 
Q:  Why do you think it was necessary for the 
president of the company to go around to all 
these stores? 
A:  For the same reason Sam Walton went and 
visited his stores. 
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Q:  What reason is that? 
A:  You just get a better feeling for merchan-
dising.  Sam Walton was a great merchandis-
er. 
Q:  On the Saturday morning visits to the 
stores, what did you do? 
A:  I walked in, introduced myself to the man-
ager, most of them I knew, and just we would 
talk about merchandising.  I would say is this 
selling, is this not selling, are you missing any 
products that you think you should have? And 
I would — I felt I would get input from store 
managers on merchandising problems. 

Id. at 1829-30. 
Catsimatidis would also address problems that 

occurred in individual stores.  For example, he testi-
fied that if a vendor called him and said there was a 
problem, “[m]aybe that he was supposed to have a 
display and not have a display,” he would not get in-
volved personally but would refer the issue to 
Criscuolo.  Id. at 1827.  Catsimatidis testified that “if 
a store didn’t look clean, or if it was very cluttered, 
[he] would make the comment about it . . . to the 
store manager, and then follow up and say it to 
[Criscuolo].”  Id. at 1831.  On one occasion, he went 
to a store and was “annoyed” that a type of fish he 
tried to buy was not in stock, so he “sent an e-mail to 
the meat director, copy to his boss, . . . sent one to 
the store manager, and sent one to the district man-
ager.”  Id. at 1882.  Catsimatidis commented that 
the emails were his attempt to “bring[] it to their at-
tention that the department looked bad” and that he 
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“would hope the supervisor or the merchandisers 
would fix it.”  Id. at 1883. 

Additionally, Catsimatidis testified that the com-
pany’s system automatically forwards him copies of 
any consumer complaints, which he then forwards 
by email “to the responsible parties . . . with a com-
ment of ‘What the hell is happening?’”  Id. at 1821.  
For example, he might forward a complaint about a 
store being dirty, and he sent a complaint about lids 
not fitting coffee cups to the deli director.  Id.  He 
testified, “I figured if they think I know about the 
problem, they’ll work harder towards fixing it.”  Id. 
at 1822.  When asked why this was, he said, “I guess 
they want to keep the boss happy, and I want to 
keep the consumers happy,” and that “one of my jobs 
is how to get the consumers in our stores, and how to 
keep them in our stores.”  Id. at 1823.  He has di-
rected similar complaints to store managers.  Id. at 
1825. 

Mitchell Moore, a former store manager, testified 
that Catsimatidis asked him to get involved with a 
“reset” at a particular store, meaning an effort to 
“change the store around, move items around the 
store, allocation, bring in new items.”  Id. at 1418.  
Moore also testified that Catsimatidis, while walking 
through a store, might “want me to change a display 
around or to make it fuller or to put a different vari-
ety in there,” or to “put signs on certain items, give 
them a good deal on it” if he wanted Moore to “push 
a particular item.”  Id. at 1421-22.  Zorn said that he 
had seen Catsimatidis go to stores for grand open-
ings or reopenings, “walk up and down the aisles . . . 
ask[] questions about — you know, he sees a product 
that is new and asks, you know — you know, who we 
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buy that from and, you know, comments on the store 
decor,” although Zorn noted that Catsimatidis was 
“there more in a PR capacity than a management 
type capacity.”  Id. at 1352-53. 

c. The Carter factors 
The first element of the Carter test considers 

whether the individual defendant “had the power to 
hire and fire employees.”  Barfield, 537 F.3d at 142 
(quotation marks omitted).  The evidence demon-
strates that Catsimatidis possesses, but rarely exer-
cises, the power to hire or fire anyone he chooses.  
He testified, “I guess I can fire the people that direct-
ly report to me,” which he said would include “only 
maybe four or five” employees such as the COO and 
CFO.  Joint App’x 1863.  He testified in 2005 that he 
could not remember having fired anyone in five or 
six years.  Id. at 1862.  In RSR, we emphasized that 
the hiring and firing of “individuals who were in 
charge of [the plaintiff employees] is a strong indica-
tion of control.”  RSR, 172 F.3d at 140. 

Zorn testified that Catsimatidis had hired him 
and “obviously would” have the authority to hire and 
fire others, “but he doesn’t get involved in that.”  
Joint App’x 1338.  For example, when Zorn was “in-
volved in letting go long-time employees for various 
reasons,” he let Catsimatidis know “as a courtesy” 
and fired the employees even if Catsimatidis “wasn’t 
happy about it.”  Id. at 1343.  On one occasion when 
both Zorn and Catsimatidis interviewed a potential 
manager, Catsimatidis “was in favor of it but he left 
the decision to” Zorn.  Id. at 1342.  Catsimatidis 
promoted Deborah Clusan from director of payroll to 
director of payroll and human resources.  Id. at 476.  
He promoted Moore to store manager from night 
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manager.  Moore testified that Catsimatidis “came to 
speak with me, asked me what my background was, 
. . . and then the next day the vice president called 
me, and told me that I would be starting in the Store 
504 the next day.”  Id. at 1412, 1415.  Moore, like 
other employees, indicated that he “view[ed] Mr. 
Catsimatidis as [his] boss” and that Catsimatidis 
would have the power to fire a store employee.  Id. at 
1425-26. 

The second Carter factor asks whether the indi-
vidual defendant “supervised and controlled employ-
ee work schedules or conditions of employment.”  
Barfield, 537 F.3d at 142 (quotation marks omitted).  
Plaintiffs overstate the importance of the two pieces 
of evidence on which they rely for this factor.  Alt-
hough they state in their brief that Catsimatidis said 
he “has handled complaints from Gristede’s workers’ 
union representatives ‘every week for as long as I 
could remember,’” Appellees’ Br. at 39, this mischar-
acterizes Catsimatidis’s testimony; he stated that he 
had not been personally involved in union negotia-
tions or discussions of problems, see Joint App’x 
1802-03, 1812, 1876.  Plaintiffs also assert that 
Catsimatidis “authorized an application for wage 
subsidies and tax credits on behalf of Gristede’s em-
ployees.”  Appellees’ Br. at 39.  The evidence reflects 
only that Catsimatidis signed the application for tax 
credits to which Gristede’s was entitled for employ-
ing people “coming off of Social Services, off of wel-
fare.”  Joint App’x at 482-83.  Moreover, plaintiffs do 
not indicate how this affected their “work schedules 
or conditions of employment.”  Although Catsimatid-
is’s involvement in the company and the stores as 
discussed above demonstrates some exercise of oper-
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ational control, it does not appear to relate closely to 
this factor of the Carter test. 

The third factor asks whether the individual de-
fendant “determined the rate and method of pay-
ment.”  Barfield, 537 F.3d at 142 (quotation marks 
omitted).  The district court and plaintiffs emphasize 
the fact that Catsimatidis’s electronic signature ap-
pears on paychecks.  This — like all factors — is not 
dispositive.  See Gray, 673 F.3d at 354.  Nonetheless, 
we held in RSR that “[t]he key question is whether 
[the defendant] had the authority to sign paychecks 
throughout the relevant period, and he did.”  RSR, 
172 F.3d at 140. 

RSR also focused on the fact that the defendant 
“controlled the company financially.”  Id.  It is clear 
that Catsimatidis possessed a similar degree of con-
trol.  He testified that he keeps track of “payroll” as 
“a line item on accounting” and “a part of profit and 
loss,” to know what percentage of Gristede’s sales 
and expenses payroll comprises, but he does not get 
involved with individual salaries or schedules.  Joint 
App’x at 1834-35.  Although he did not speak to his 
managers “about people getting paid,” id. at 1834, he 
knew that employees were paid on time “[b]ecause 
the unions would have come down on us real hard” if 
there was a problem.  Id. at 1852.  Catsimatidis ex-
plained that he might also learn about a problem 
“[i]f I walked down the aisle, and the employee saw 
me, they might complain,” although the official pro-
cedure for such complaints involved the employees’ 
union and store manager.  Id. at 1866-67.  Catsima-
tidis set up a meeting between lower-level managers 
and an outside payroll company, id. at 1452-53, and 
although he did not know specifically “if George San-
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tiago in the store got a paycheck that week,” his 
“rules are if somebody works, they get paid,” id. at 
469.  The district court also noted that Catsimatidis 
stated “in open Court in this proceeding that he 
could shut down the business, declare bankruptcy, 
as well as provide the personal signature necessary 
for a bank letter of credit to be issued in favor of 
Gristede’s,” Torres III, 2011 WL 4571792, at *1, 
which further demonstrates the kind of financial 
control emphasized in RSR. 

The fourth Carter factor asks whether the indi-
vidual defendant “maintained employment records.”  
Barfield, 537 F.3d at 142 (quotation marks omitted).  
Plaintiffs offer only that “Catsimatidis works in the 
same office where employment records are kept” and 
promoted the payroll director, Appellees’ Br. at 41, 
essentially admitting that Catsimatidis did not meet 
this factor.  In sum, the evidence — much of it 
Catsimatidis’s own testimony — indicates that 
Catsimatidis meets the first and third Carter factors. 

d. Totality of the circumstances 
There is no question that Gristede’s was the 

plaintiffs’ employer, and no question that Catsima-
tidis had functional control over the enterprise as a 
whole.  His involvement in the company’s daily oper-
ations merits far more than the symbolic or ceremo-
nial characterization he urges us to apply.  Unlike 
the defendant in Wirtz, who visited his company’s 
facilities only a few times a year, Catsimatidis was 
active in running Gristede’s, including contact with 
individual stores, employees, vendors, and custom-
ers.  Catsimatidis dealt with customer complaints, 
in-store displays and merchandising, and the promo-
tion of store personnel.  That he may have done so 
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“only occasionally” does not mean that these actions 
are irrelevant, see RSR, 172 F.3d at 139, especially 
when considered in the context of his overall control 
of the company. 

Although there is no evidence that he was re-
sponsible for the FLSA violations — or that he ever 
directly managed or otherwise interacted with the 
plaintiffs in this case — Catsimatidis satisfied two of 
the Carter factors in ways that we particularly em-
phasized in RSR:  the hiring of managerial employ-
ees, and overall financial control of the company.  
See id. at 136-37, 140 (finding that the individual de-
fendant “exercised financial control over the compa-
ny” and “frequently” gave instructions to subordi-
nate managers); see also Donovan v. Grim Hotel Co., 
747 F.2d 966, 972 (5th Cir. 1984) (noting that the in-
dividual defendant was the “‘top man’” in a hotel 
company who “held [the hotels’] purse-strings and 
guided their policies” and that the hotels “speaking 
pragmatically, . . . functioned for the profit of his 
family”).  This involvement meant that Catsimatidis 
possessed, and exercised, “operational control” over 
the plaintiffs’ employment in much more than a 
“but-for” sense.  His decisions affected not only 
Gristede’s bottom line but individual stores, and the 
personnel and products therein. 

We recognize that the facts here make for a close 
case, but we are guided by the principles behind the 
liquidated damages provision of the FLSA in resolv-
ing the impact of the totality of the circumstances 
described herein.  The Supreme Court has noted that 
“liquidated damages as authorized by the FLSA are 
not penalties but rather compensatory damages ‘for 
the retention of a workman’s pay which might result 
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in damages too obscure and difficult of proof for es-
timate other than by liquidated damages.’”  Republic 
Franklin Ins. Co. v. Albemarle County Sch. Bd., 670 
F.3d 563, 568 (4th Cir. 2012) (quoting Brooklyn Sav. 
Bank v. O’Neil, 324 U.S. 697, 707 (1945)); see also 
Marshall v. Brunner, 668 F.2d 748, 753 (3d Cir. 
1982) (noting that liquidated damages “are compen-
satory, not punitive in nature”). 

As counsel for amicus curiae the Secretary of La-
bor explained at oral argument, the purpose of the 
FLSA is not to punish an employer but to remuner-
ate aggrieved employees.  Considered in the context 
of the expansive interpretation that courts have af-
forded the statute, this policy reasoning particularly 
counsels in favor of finding that Catsimatidis was an 
“employer” given the failure of the settlement be-
tween the corporate defendants and the plaintiff 
employees.  Catsimatidis was not personally respon-
sible for the FLSA violations that led to this lawsuit, 
but he nonetheless profited from them.  And alt-
hough the Gristede’s Supermarkets business entity 
appears to have been larger than other businesses 
discussed in the cases that have considered this 
question, the company was not so large as to render 
Catsimatidis’s involvement a legal fiction.  The com-
pany is not public.  Its stores, in which Catsimatidis 
actively exercised his influence, are all in the New 
York City metropolitan area, as are the company 
headquarters, where he worked almost daily.  In 
sum, as the district court concluded, “it is pellucidly 
clear that he is the one person who is in charge of 
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the corporate defendant.”8 Torres III, 2011 WL 
4571792, at *3. 

Although we must be mindful, when considering 
an individual defendant, to ascertain that the indi-
vidual was engaged in the culpable company’s affairs 
to a degree that it is logical to find him liable to 
plaintiff employees, we conclude that this standard 
has been met here.  Catsimatidis’s actions and re-
sponsibilities — particularly as demonstrated by his 
active exercise of overall control over the company, 
his ultimate responsibility for the plaintiffs’ wages, 
his supervision of managerial employees, and his ac-
tions in individual stores — demonstrate that he was 
an “employer” for purposes of the FLSA. 
III.  New York Labor Law 

The NYLL defines “employer” as “any person . . . 
employing any individual in any occupation, indus-
try, trade, business or service” or “any individual . . . 
acting as employer.”  N.Y. Lab. Law. §§ 190(3), 
651(6).  The definition of “employed” under the 
NYLL is that a person is “permitted or suffered to 
work.”  Id. § 2(7). 

The district court granted partial summary 
judgment in plaintiffs’ favor on their NYLL claims, 
but neither its oral nor its written decision contained 
any substantive discussion of the issue.  Plaintiffs 
                                                 

8 The district court’s decision indirectly referenced state-
ments made by Catsimatidis in open court at a hearing on the 
settlement agreement to the effect that he was “here to speak 
for 1,700 employees that [sic] their jobs . . . on the line,” that he 
“represent[ed] the 1,700 current employees,” and that he was 
“their employer.” Joint App’x 3594-95.  We do not, of course, 
afford these statements weight as legal conclusions, but they 
are telling. 



39a 
 

assert that the tests for “employer” status are the 
same under the FLSA and the NYLL, but this ques-
tion has not been answered by the New York Court 
of Appeals.  Defendants respond that corporate offic-
ers cannot be held liable under the NYLL simply by 
virtue of their status, but plaintiffs are arguing that 
Catsimatidis should be held liable “not as [a] corpo-
rate officer[] or shareholder[], but as [an] employ-
er[].”  See Chu Chung v. New Silver Palace Rest., 
Inc., 272 F. Supp. 2d 314, 318 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). 

Plaintiffs also contend in their response brief that 
“there is no need to also establish [Catsimatidis’s] 
status as an employer under state law” because the 
settlement agreement establishes that he will be 
personally liable “‘if the Court holds John Catsima-
tidis to be an employer’—period.”  Appellees’ Br. at 
41-42 (quoting Settlement Agreement § 3.1(H)).  De-
fendants do not respond to this in their reply brief. 

In light of the possible disagreement between the 
parties regarding the need for us to decide this issue 
of state law, and particularly in light of the absence 
of discussion of the issue in the district court’s deci-
sion, we vacate the grant of summary judgment in 
plaintiffs’ favor on the NYLL claims and remand to 
the district court.  The case will return to the lower 
court in any event for a determination of damages in 
light of our holding today; in the process, the parties 
and the district court may determine (1) whether the 
NYLL question requires resolution, and (2) what 
that resolution should be. 

Conclusion 
We have examined all of Catsimatidis’s argu-

ments on appeal and find them to be without merit.  
For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the dis-
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trict court granting partial summary judgment in 
favor of plaintiffs is AFFIRMED IN PART, VA-
CATED IN PART, AND REMANDED. 
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APPENDIX B 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

 
At a Stated Term of the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the Thurgood 
Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley 
Square, in the City of New York, on the 9th day of 
July, two thousand and thirteen. 
Before: RICHARD C. WESLEY, 
  PETER W. HALL, 
    Circuit Judges, 
  RICHARD W. GOLDBERG∗

 

 
Bobby Irizarry, Ruben Mora, Joselito Arocho, Joseph 
Crema, Alfred Croker, Frank DeLeon, Mario DiPre-
ta, William Helwig, Robert Misuraca, Robert Pasto-
rino, Victor Phelps, Daniel Salegna, Gilberto Santia-
go, 
 Plaintiffs - Appellees,   
Carlos Torres, on behalf of himself and all others 
similarly situated, 
Lewis Chewning, 
 Plaintiffs - Counter-Defendants - Appellees, 
                                                 

∗ The Honorable Richard W. Goldberg, of the United States 
Court of International Trade, sitting by designation 

JUDGMENT 
Docket No. 11-4035 



42a 
 

Raymond Allen, Llanos Blas, Nabil Elfiky, Moham-
med DaBash, Carlos Martinez, Luis Morales, Steve 
Grossman, Franklyn Collado, David Adler, Dino A. 
Zaino, Patrick Labella, Robert Mastronicola, Antho-
ny Brooks, Victor Bennett, Candido Morel, Jose Mar-
tinez, Wayne Hendricks, Harold Horn, Troy Miller, 
Ousmane Diatta, Elliot Stone, Tina Rodriguez, Ga-
briel Karamanian, Brian Homola, Anna Garrett, 
Nelson Betancourt, Jose DelaCruz, Yuri Lamarche, 
Michael Groseclose, Rodolfo Delemos, Pio Morel, Ab-
igail Claudio, Malick Diouf, David Otto, Alejandro 
Morales, Victor Diaz, Paul Petrosino, Eduardo Gon-
zalez, Jr., Jose Bonilla - Reyes, Vincent Perez, Mar-
tin Gonzalez, Calvin Adams, William Fritz, Kathe-
rine Halpern, Christian Tejada, Edward Stokes, 
Plinio Medina, Towana Starks, Lawson Hopkins, 
Ruben M. Aleman, Eugene Rybacki, Earl Cross, Ma-
nolo Hiraldo, Robert Hairston, 
 Plaintiffs, 
 v. 
John Catsimatidis, 
 Defendant - Appellant, 
Gristede’s Operating Corp., Gristede’s Foods NY, 
Inc., Namdor, Inc., Gristede’s Foods, Inc., City Pro-
duce Operating Corp., 
 Defendants - Counter-Claimants, 
Gallo Balseca, James Monos, 
 Defendants.

 
The appeal in the above captioned case from a 

judgment of the United States District Court for the 
Southern District of New York was argued on the 
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district court’s record and the parties’ briefs.  Upon 
consideration thereof, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDICATED and 
DECREED that the judgment of the district court is 
AFFIRMED in part, VACATED in part, and the case 
is REMANDED in accordance with the opinion of 
this court. 

 
  For the Court: 
  Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, 

  Clerk of the Court 
 

   
 
 

Seal of the Court 
/s/ Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe 
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APPENDIX C 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

CARLOS TORRES, et al., 
Plaintiffs,

v. 
GRISTEDE’S OPERATING 
CORP., et al., 

Defendants.

 
 
04 Civ. 3316 (PAC) 
 

 New York, N.Y. 
September 8, 2011 
11:00 a.m. 

Before: 
HON. PAUL A. CROTTY, 

District Judge 
(Transcript Excerpts) 

* * * 
THE COURT: All right.  I thank the parties for 

their argument, which has always been very helpful.  
Before me is the plaintiffs’ motion for partial 

summary judgment holding Mr. Catsimatidis as an 
employer under the Fair Labor Standards Act and 
New York Labor Law and hold that Mr. Catsimatidis 
is jointly and severally liable for the plaintiffs’ dam-
ages.  I’m going to grant the motion. 

Under the Fair Labor Standards Act, an employ-
er is broadly defined as any person acting directly or 
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indirectly in the interest of an employer in relation 
to an employee.  And I’m quoting now from the Her-
man decision, Above and beyond the plain language 
which calls for expansiveness, the remedial nature of 
the statute warrants an expansive interpretation of 
its provisions so it will have the widest possible im-
pact on the national economy.  The overarching con-
cern is whether the alleged employer possessed the 
power to control the workers in question. 

And there’s the economic reality test.  According 
to the Herman decision, that status does not require 
a continuous monitoring of employees, looking over 
their shoulders or any sort of absolute control of 
one’s employees.  In that particular case, in the 
Herman case, it was sufficient that the individual at 
issue, Mr. Portnoy, hired managerial employees who 
in turn hired most of the guards.  

I don’t have to review the individual factors be-
cause it’s clear that Mr. Catsimatidis has the power 
to supervise and control the employees.  Indeed, he 
has a greater power, that is, the power to determine 
whether or not they’re going to be employees at all 
because he raises the concern that he will have to go 
into bankruptcy and perhaps terminate employment.  

In the Herman case, Mr. Portnoy contended that 
the evidence showing his authority over manage-
ment, supervision, and oversight of the company’s 
affairs was irrelevant.  The only evidence that 
should be considered is his direct control of the 
guards.  The court held “such a contention ignores 
the relevance of the totality of the circumstances in 
determining Portnoy’s operational control of RSR’s 
employer’s employment of the guards.” 
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Here I’m deeply troubled by the affidavit that Mr. 
Catsimatidis submitted in the Trader Joe’s case be-
fore Judge Preska, subsequently resolved amicably, I 
guess. 

He says he’s the owner, president, and CEO of 
the defendant Gristede’s and the parent company.  
He’s run the companies, run the supermarket chain 
for over 20 years.  He made the determination as a 
result of the severe economic downturn to launch, on 
an experimental basis, a new store.  So it indicates 
his power to launch stores. 

And he made a further determination to distin-
guish this store from the regular model for existing 
Gristede’s stores.  He decided, Mr. Catsimatidis, to 
give the store a different name while at the same 
time maintaining much of the look and feel of our 
regular stores.  So he has the power to open and 
close stores, he has the power to determine their de-
cor. 

He decided also, he says, to feature many items 
at prices materially lower than comparable items at 
our other Gristede’s stores.  So he has the power to 
set prices in the stores. 

The idea of the new experimental store was Mr. 
Catsimatidis’ alone.  He considered other alterna-
tives like cheap John’s and John’s bargain stores, 
but he decided he did not like the image of either.  
And because he made a fortune trading in the kinds 
of goods sold in his stores, he decided what he want-
ed to do.  He also refers to his operation, his ar-
rangement with ShopRite branded products and the 
decor in the store.  The floor is blue and white tile, 
not red, distinguishing it from Trader Joe’s. 
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I find based on this affidavit that was submitted 
in the context of another case, and not this case, it’s 
clear that Mr. Catsimatidis is in charge in all re-
spects of the business at Gristede’s.  Indeed, he con-
cludes as evidence of his good faith that he is going 
to change the name from Trader John’s to Gristede’s 
Trader John’s, indicating that he controls both sign-
age and advertising. 

I don’t think there’s any doubt and certainly 
there’s no genuine issue of fact about who runs 
Gristede’s: It is Mr. Catsimatidis, and he is an em-
ployer within the meaning of the law. 

Further, the evidence in this case for the reasons 
cited by Mr. Swartz in his arguments, and in partic-
ular the 56.1 statements which are not really con-
tested -- they’re quibbled with rather than contested; 
the defendants do not raise genuine issues of mate-
rial fact -- I find that Mr. Catsimatidis is a person 
who can be properly described as an employer under 
the meaning of the act. 

That constitutes my disposition of this motion, 
and as I indicated at the beginning, I grant the mo-
tion for partial summary judgment and hold that 
Mr. Catsimatidis is an employer of plaintiffs under 
the Fair Labor Standards Act and New York Labor 
Law, and I now hold that he’s jointly and severally 
liable for the plaintiffs’ damages. 

I’ll enter an order to that effect this afternoon. 
Thank you very much. 

MR. PARLO: Thank you, your Honor. 
MR. SWARTZ: Thank you, your Honor. 

* * * 
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APPENDIX D 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

CARLOS TORRES, on behalf 
of himself and all others simi-
larly situated, 

Plaintiffs,
-against- 

GRISTEDE’S OPERATING 
CORP., et al., 

Defendants.

 
 
04 Civ. 3316 (PAC) 
ORDER 

HONORABLE PAUL A. CROTTY, United States 
District Judge: 

For the reasons stated on the record at the con-
clusion of oral argument, the Court grants Plaintiffs’ 
motion for partial summary judgment; and holds 
that defendant John Catsimatidis is an employer 
within the meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(“FLSA”) and New York Labor Law (“NYLL”).  As 
such, defendant John Catsimatidis is jointly and 
severally liable for Plaintiffs’ damages.  The Court 
makes the following additional holdings in support of 
this decision. 

Both parties agree that the word “employer” is 
defined broadly to include “any person acting direct-
ly or indirectly in the interest of an employer in rela-
tion to any employee.” 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).  “Person” 
includes individual, so that individuals may be held 
liable or responsible for violations of the law by a 
corporate employer.  Id. at § 203(a). 
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Both parties agree that the traditional require-
ments for piercing the corporate veil are not required 
to establish individual liability under the FLSA and 
NYLL. 

At the hearing held on September 8, 2011, the 
Court recited passages from an affidavit signed by 
Mr. Catsimatidis, on January 13, 2009, in a case 
that was pending here in the Southern District of 
New York, Trader Joe’s Company v. Gristede’s 
Foods, Inc., et al., 09 Civ. 163 (LAP). 

There is no need to repeat what was said in open 
Court, except to briefly summarize Mr. Catsimatidis’ 
affidavit: (1) he is the sole owner, President and 
CEO of Gristede’s and its parent company; (2) he has 
owned the enterprise for 20 years; (3) he has the 
right and authority to open, close and reopen stores; 
(4) he can set prices for goods offered for sale; (5) se-
lect the décor for the stores; (6) control any store’s 
signage and advertising.  Indeed, he can run the en-
tire operation where he “made [his] fortune trading 
in the kind of goods sold in the Red Apple and 
Gristede’s supermarket chains that [he] own[s].” 

This affidavit, together with Mr. Catsimatidis’ 
statements in open Court in this proceeding that he 
could shut down the business, declare bankruptcy, 
as well as provide the personal signature necessary 
for a bank letter of credit to be issued in favor of 
Gristede’s, demonstrate that he has absolute control 
of Gristede’s, and all of its operations. 

Nonetheless, Mr. Catsimatidis’ urges that he 
should not be held to be an employer.  The “economic 
reality” test he applies requires the individual to 
have:  
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(1) the power to hire and fire employees; 
(2) supervise and control employee work sched-

ules;  
(3) determine the rate and methods of pay; and 
(4) maintain employment records. 

Carter v. Dutchess Community College, 735 F.2d 8 
(2d Cir. 1984).  In other words, before an individual 
can be held to be an employer, he must have acted in 
an immediate and direct way over the workers in 
question. 

But, as the Second Circuit later held in Herman 
v. RSR Sec. Services Ltd., 172 F.3d 132 (2d Cir. 
1999), the Carter test of “economic reality” should be 
based on “all the circumstances . . . so as to avoid 
having the test confined to a narrow legalistic defini-
tion.”  Id. at 139 (emphasis in original).  That, of 
course, is precisely what Mr. Catsimatidis is at-
tempting to do, as he argues that there must be 
some connection between what the individual has 
done (in the exercise of his responsibility) and the 
wrong alleged in the complaint.  He argues that cor-
porate officers should not be liable solely due to that 
officer status; nor should they be held accountable 
because they have cheap products. 

However, “[a]n employer need not look over his 
workers’ shoulders every day in order to exercise 
control.”  Id. at 190 (quoting Brock v. Superior Care, 
Inc., 840 F.2d 1054, 1060 (2d Cir. 1988) (finding the 
plaintiffs to be employees, as opposed to independent 
contractors, even though the employer’s “visits to the 
job sites occurred only once or twice a month”)).  In 
the Herman case, the individual at issue was held to 
be an employer because he hired management staff, 
as opposed to the workers who had FLSA com-
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plaints.  There is no evidence that Mr. Catsimatidis 
hired any class member, but there does not have to 
be.  It stands uncontradicted that he hired manage-
rial employees. 

Mr. Catsimatidis signed all paychecks to the class 
members.  See Dong v. Ng, No. 08 Civ. 917 
(JGK)(MHD), 2011 WL 2150544, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Mar 
08, 2011) (finding the signing of payroll certifications 
to be a significant factor in the economic reality test) 
(adopted by 2011 WL 2150545 (S.D.N.Y. May 31, 
2011)).  He argues that it was only an electronic sig-
nature.  But, even if that is a difference, it does not 
have any significance. 

Based on these facts, defendant Catsimatidis ar-
gues, as Portnoy did in Herman, that only evidence 
indicating direct control over the employees at issue 
should be considered.  The Court specifically rejected 
the argument: “Such a contract ignores the relevance 
of the totality of the circumstances in determining 
Portnoy’s operational conduct of RSR’s employment 
of the Guards.”  Id. at 140. 

Mr. Catsimatidis argues that he cannot fire any-
one, but we should be careful about accepting the 
characterization of limitations on his power.  See 
Ansoumana v. Gristede’s Operating Corp., 255 F. 
Supp. 2d 184, 190 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (employer’s char-
acterization cannot control, “otherwise there could be 
no enforcement of any minimum wages or overtime 
law”).  This is especially true when key managerial 
employees at Gristede’s concede that Mr. Catsima-
tidis hired them, and acknowledged his power to 
close or sell Gristede’s stores.  (Plaintiffs’ 56.1 
Statement of Facts, ¶¶ 18, 19, 20, 21).  Defendant’s 
responses do not deny these statements, so much as 
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engage in an extended quibble about their legal sig-
nificance.  See United States v. Mottley, 130 Fed. 
App’x 508, 510 (2d Cir. 2005) (quoting Lipton v. Na-
ture Co., 71 F.3d 464, 469 (2d Cir. 1995) (“[M]ere 
conclusory allegations or denials . . . are not evidence 
and cannot by themselves create a genuine issue of 
material fact where none would otherwise exist.”)). 

Mr. Catsimatidis routinely reviews financial re-
ports, works at his office in Gristede’s corporate of-
fice and generally presides over the day to day oper-
ations of the company.  His employees recognize that 
he is in charge.  (Id. at ¶¶ 53, 55, 56, 57, 59, 62, 63, 
64).  For the purposes of applying the total circum-
stances test, it does not matter that Mr. Catsimatid-
is has delegated powers to others.  (Id. at ¶ 71).  
What is critical is that Mr. Catsimatidis has those 
powers to delegate. 

Further, Mr. Catsimatidis admits that he con-
trols Gristede’s banking and real estate matters.  
Notwithstanding the argument that his control in 
these two critical areas is not relevant to his status 
as employer, (Id. at ¶¶ 75-79), they are part of “the 
total circumstances” in analyzing whether Mr. 
Catsimatidis is in fact an employer. 

Where officers and owners have “overall opera-
tional control of the corporation, possess an owner-
ship interest in it, control significant functions of the 
business or determine the employees’ salaries and 
makes hiring decisions,” they may be held to be em-
ployers under the FLSA.  Ansoumana, 255 F. Supp. 
2d at 192 (quoting Lopez v. Silverman, 14 F. Supp. 
2d 405, 412 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)) (emphasis added). 

In short, there is no aspect of Gristede’s  opera-
tions from top to bottom and side to side which is be-
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yond Mr. Catsimatidis’ reach.  There is no area of 
Gristede’s which is not subject to his control, wheth-
er he chooses to exercise it.  He had operational con-
trol and, as such, he may be held to be an employer.  
Herman, 172 F.3d at 140-41; Ansoumana, 255 F. 
Supp. 2d at 193. 

The conclusion should come as no surprise to Mr. 
Catsimatidis.  Given his own public pronounce-
ments, as well as his conduct here in this proceeding, 
it is pellucidly clear that he is the one person who is 
in charge of the corporate defendant.   There is no 
genuine issue of material fact concerning Mr. Catsi-
matidis’ statements.  Mr. Catsimatidis is an employ-
er within the meaning of the law and he will be held 
jointly and severally liable for the damages which 
have accrued in this action. 

 
Dated:  New York, New York  
   September 9, 2011 
 
   SO ORDERED 

 
   /s/ Paul A. Crotty  
   PAUL A. CROTTY 
   United States District Judge 
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APPENDIX E 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

CARLOS TORRES, on behalf 
of himself and all others simi-
larly situated, 

Plaintiffs,
-against- 

GRISTEDE’S OPERATING 
CORP., et al., 

Defendants.

 
 
04 Civ. 3316 (PAC) 
ORDER 

HONORABLE PAUL A. CROTTY, United States 
District Judge: 

Upon reading the Court’s order of September 9, 
2011, there is a typographical error on page 3 line 3, 
the last two words.  The order is corrected by delet-
ing the words “cheap products” and inserting the 
words “deep pockets.” 

 
Dated:  New York, New York  
   September 9, 2011 
 
   SO ORDERED 

 
   /s/ Paul A. Crotty  
   PAUL A. CROTTY 
   United States District Judge 
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APPENDIX F 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

CARLOS TORRES, RUBEN MO-
RA, BOBBY IRIZARRY, LEWIS 
CHEWNING, GILBERTO SAN-
TIAGO, WILLIAM HELWIG, 
ROBERT MISURACA, JOSEPH 
CREMA, MARIO DIPRETA, VIC-
TOR PHELPS, JOSELITO 
AROCHO, ALFRED CROKER, 
DANIEL SALEGNA, FRANK 
DELEON, and ROBERT PASTO-
RINO, on behalf of themselves 
and all others similarly situated, 
   Plaintiffs, 

-against- 
GRISTEDE’S OPERATING 
CORP.; NAMDOR, INC.; 
GRISTEDE’S FOODS, INC.; CITY 
PRODUCE OPERATING CORP.; 
GRISTEDE’S FOODS NY, INC., 
JOHN CATSIMATIDIS, JAMES 
MONOS, and GALO BALSECA, 
   Defendants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
No. 04 CV 3316 
(PAC) 

[PROPOSED] [PAC] PARTIAL FINAL JUDG-
MENT 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DE-
CREED THAT: 
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1. Partial final judgment is entered in favor of 
Plaintiffs against  Defendants Gristede’s Operating 
Corporation, Namdor, Inc., Gristede’s foods, Inc.,  
City Produce Operating Corp., Gristede’s Foods  NY, 
Inc., and John Catsimatidis, jointly and severally, 
for TWO MILLION ONE HUNDRED ELEVEN 
THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-SEVEN 
DOLLARS AND FORTY-ONE CENTS 
($2,11,327.41), which includes the unpaid Total Set-
tlement Fund Amount of TWO MILLION SIXTY-
NINE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED NINETY-
NINE DOLLARS AND NINETY-NINE CENTS 
($2,069,999.99) and interest accrued until September 
20, 2011, of FORTY-ONE THOUSAND THREE 
HUNDRED TWENTY-SEVEN DOLLARS AND 
FORTY-TWO CENTS ($41,327.42). 

2. Defendants Gristede’s Operating Corporation, 
Namdor, Inc., Gristede’s Foods, Inc., City Produce 
Operating Corp., Gristede’s Foods NY, Inc., and 
John Catsimatidis remain jointly and severally lia-
ble for paying any interest that continues to accrue 
under the Settlement Agreement. 

3. Defendants Gristede’s Operating Corporation, 
Namdor, Inc., Gristede’s Foods, Inc., City Produce 
Operating Corp., Gristede’s Foods NY, Inc., and 
John Catsimatidis remain jointly and severally lia-
ble for Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses 
as determined by the Court. 

4. This Partial Final Judgment does not alter 
the parties’ continuing rights and obligations under 
the Settlement Agreement, including but not limited 
to Plaintiffs’ entitlement to an award of attorneys’ 
fees, costs, and expenses, increasing interest rates 
for late payments, [PAC] and right to move for in-



57a 
 

junctive relief.  The parties are to comply with all 
terms of the Settlement Agreement. 

5. The Court retains jurisdiction over this action 
for the purpose of enforcing the Settlement Agree-
ment, overseeing the distribution of settlement 
funds, ruling on Plaintiffs’ application for attorneys’ 
fees, costs and expenses filed on July 1, 2011, ruling 
on [PAC] [any] supplemental applications for attor-
neys’ fees, costs and expenses, and ruling on a mo-
tion for injunctive relief, if any. 

6. In order to expedite implementation of the 
Settlement Agreement, this [PAC] [The] Court finds, 
pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, that there is no just reason for delay in 
entering this Partial Final Judgment and it is ex-
pressly directed that this Partial Final Judgment be 
entered forthwith. 
 
So Ordered, Enter Judgment. 
New York, New York 
October 5, 2011 
 
   /s/ Paul A. Crotty   
   Hon. Paul A. Crotty, U.S.D.J. 
 
 
Judgment entered    , 2011 
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APPENDIX G 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT  

OF NEW YORK 

CARLOS TORRES, RUBEN 
MORA, BOBBY IRIZARRY, 
LEWIS CHEWNING, GILBER-
TO SANTIAGO, WILLIAM 
HELWIG, ROBERT MISURACA, 
JOSEPH CREMA, MARIO DI-
PRETA, VICTOR PHELPS, 
JOSELITO AROCHO, ALFRED 
CROKER, DANIEL SALEGNA, 
FRANK DELEON, and ROBERT 
PASTORINO, on behalf of them-
selves and all others similarly 
situated, 
   Plaintiffs, 
 -against- 
GRISTEDE’S OPERATING 
CORP.; NAMDOR, INC.; 
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I, John Catsimatidis, declare: 
1. I am the Chairman, President and CEO of 

Gristede’s Foods, Inc. 
2. Gristede’s Foods, Inc. owns a subsidiary, 

Namdor, that operates the Gristede’s supermarkets 
in and around the New York City area. 

3. Gristede’s Foods, Inc. is a professionally 
managed company whose stock I indirectly own and 
where I hold the honorary role of Chairman, Presi-
dent, and CEO.  The business is operated by Charles 
Criscuolo, Executive Vice President.  My role is lim-
ited to high level corporate financial management 
and strategic planning.  I have no involvement in ei-
ther store operations or the day-to-day management 
of the Company; and in fact, a great deal of my high 
level involvement in the Company has been delegat-
ed to my Deputy. 

4. For at least the last ten years, I do not recall 
hiring, firing or disciplining any Gristede’s store em-
ployee.  During the same period, I do not recall refer-
ring or recruiting any individuals for any position in 
any Gristede’s store; having been involved in review-
ing any employee applications or application forms; 
assigning duties to any store employee — including 
department managers or co-managers; or giving any 
store employees instructions on how to operate any 
stores — including department managers or co-
managers. 

5. For at least the last ten years, the only indi-
vidual I recall hiring was Robert Zorn, the Executive 
Vice President, Deputy to the Chairman of Red Ap-
ple Group, who reports directly to me on financial 
matters.  I did not hire Gristede’s Chief Operating 
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Officer, Charles Criscuolo.  Charles Criscuolo was 
hired by Tony Petrillo, who worked with Mr. 
Criscuolo at a previous employer and who brought 
him to Gristede’s.  Thus, aside from my decision to 
hire Mr. Zorn, who does not work for Gristede’s, I do 
not recall hiring or firing any executive or manager 
of Gristede’s over the last ten years. 

6. For at least the last ten years, I have not had 
any involvement  in the firing of any store employees 
of Gristede’s; nor have I fired any executives of the 
Company.  I leave the running of the Company to 
the people who are responsible for running the Com-
pany. 

7. For at least the last ten years, I was not in-
volved in supervising or controlling the work sched-
ule or conditions of employment of any Gristede’s 
store employee, at any time, in any store. 

8. In January 2000, I stopped regularly visiting 
stores because I began to experience health-related 
eye problems.  I remember the date I stopped visit-
ing stores because it was one year before I eventual-
ly had a medical procedure to address my eye prob-
lem, and that medical procedure occurred in January 
2001. 

9. In the past, when I did visit some stores, 
those visits were brief (10 minutes) and were solely 
to look at and make comments on the placement of 
certain merchandise or on general store appearance.   
During these visits, I did not have anything to do 
with the schedule or conditions of employment of any 
employee, and I rarely had any communications  
with any employee other than exchanging general 
“hellos” and pleasantries.  I did not discuss payroll, 
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wages, time keeping, work schedules or any related 
topics with any store employees. 

10. Since January 2000, I recall visiting stores 
only if there was a grand opening, grand re-opening, 
or a similar event, and then only to serve in a public 
relations function.  Aside from those limited excep-
tions, the only time I visit stores is when performing 
personal shopping like any other Gristede’s custom-
er. 

11. For at least the last ten years, I was not di-
rectly involved, at any time with the negotiation of 
any labor agreement or in any other labor relations 
issue.  When Gristede’s had a representative at the 
bargaining table, it has been Jack Squicciarini or 
another Gristede’s representative.  However, 
Gristede’s  often has not had anyone involved as the 
negotiations are often conducted on a multi-
employer basis by representatives of other super-
markets and Gristede’s just follows what is decided 
by other companies. 

12. I have not been involved in any way with 
day-to-day issues regarding Gristede’s union em-
ployees, including grievances, suspensions, termina-
tions, and issues regarding hours.  Deborah Clusan 
and Renee Flores perform these duties.  Ms. Clusan 
and Ms. Flores are responsible for all union billing 
and the withholding of any payment of union dues. 

13. Although I sit on the board of a union pension 
fund, through that position I do not have — and thus 
did not exercise — any authority to control any em-
ployee in their day-to-day work.  Their pension bene-
fits have nothing to do with employee compensation, 
schedules or conditions of employment. 
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14. With regard to operations sales reports, I do 
receive and review these reports at a high level.  
These sales reports do not individually relate to any 
employee or to any issue relating to employee wages 
or terms and conditions of employment. 

15. For at least the last ten years, I have not pos-
sessed any control over, and do not recall ever being 
involved with, any payroll or human resources issue.  
Ms. Clusan, Ms. Flores and their staff were and are 
responsible for handling all payroll and human re-
sources issues and I do not supervise any of those 
individuals. 

16. As such, for at least the last ten years I do 
not recall having made any decision about, or exer-
cising any authority over, any payroll or payment 
issue relating to store employees, nor establishing, 
or even suggesting, a single compensation rule in re-
lation to store employees.  I have no idea on a week-
to-week basis which store employees get paid and 
which do not, or what they get paid.  In fact, for at 
least the last ten years I do not recall having a con-
versation with anyone about any store employee 
payroll or payroll policy issue. 

17. I do not handle any compensation-related  
complaints and, if there were any, they would be 
handled by Ms. Clusan or Ms. Flores. 

18. Mr. Criscuolo and the operations team are 
involved with formulating and changing any Payroll 
or Human Resources Department policy I am not in-
volved.  I have not exercised any authority to make 
decisions about payroll issues or to establish rules 
relating to the payment of Gristede’s store employ-
ees.  That is the way our corporate structure works 
— authority has been delegated to the Company’s  



63a 
 

management team and it is up to them to run the 
Company and make those decisions.  This has been 
the case for the past ten years or so. 

19. I have not been involved in any way with de-
termining the amount, rate and/or method of pay-
ment of any store employee, at any time, in any 
store, for at least the last ten years. 

20. Although I had the power to, and do in fact 
sign company checks, those checks generally relate 
to vendor payments and general corporate matters.  
They have nothing to do with payroll or any store 
employee.  Further, although the store employee 
payroll checks bear my electronic signature, I do not 
personally sign or even review those checks.  In fact, 
for at least the last ten years, I do not recall having 
signed or reviewed any payroll check for any store 
employee. 

21. As I have had no involvement in the compen-
sation of store employees, I did not have knowledge 
of the wage-and-hour issues and alleged violations in 
this action until after the lawsuit was filed.  Moreo-
ver, for at least the last ten years, I do not recall any 
employee ever complaining to me about a failure to 
pay overtime or inappropriate calculation of any 
wage or overtime. 

22. For at least the last ten years, I was also not 
involved in maintaining any employment records.  
Although I have an office in the same building as the 
Payroll and Human Resources Departments, I sel-
dom interact with anyone in those departments, and 
do not involve myself with any payroll, human re-
sources, or timekeeping records. 
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23. Since I began to experience health-related  
eye problems around January 2000, in addition to no 
longer visiting stores, I stopped sitting-in on any op-
erations meetings.  I also have not had any input 
with regard to employees’ work schedules or hours; I 
do not attend any meetings of any kind involving 
Gristede’s store employees; I do not meet with or 
speak to any co-manager or department manager to 
discuss any employment related issue; I have no in-
volvement in the amount, rate or method of compen-
sation of any store employee; and I otherwise do not 
supervise, control or have any involvement at all 
with the work schedules or hours of any store em-
ployee.  In other words, since 2000 I have not had 
any direct involvement in relation to any store em-
ployee, nor any role whatsoever in the day-to-day 
operations of any Gristede’s store or store employees.  
Instead, there are numerous other individuals, at 
varying levels of responsibility, who control those 
operations and manage those people. 

24. My role is, and for some time has been, with 
the big picture of trying to establish what Gristede’s 
image is and what it means to the consumer. 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws 

of the United States of America that the foregoing is 
true and correct. 
Executed this 26th day of March, 2009. 
 
   /s/ John Catsimatidis   
   John Catsimatidis 
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APPENDIX H 

RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS 
§ 203. Definitions 
(a) “Person” means an individual, partnership, as-

sociation, corporation, business trust, legal rep-
resentative, or any organized group of persons. 

* * * 
(d) “Employer” includes any person acting directly 

or indirectly in the interest of an employer in 
relation to an employee and includes a public 
agency, but does not include any labor organiza-
tion (other than when acting as an employer) or 
anyone acting in the capacity of officer or agent 
of such labor organization. 

§ 216. Penalties 
(a) Fines and imprisonment 
Any person who willfully violates any of the provi-
sions of section 215 of this title shall upon conviction 
thereof be subject to a fine of not more than $10,000, 
or to imprisonment for not more than six months, or 
both.  No person shall be imprisoned under this sub-
section except for an offense committed after the 
conviction of such person for a prior offense under 
this subsection. 
(b) Damages; right of action; attorney’s fees and 

costs; termination of right of action 
Any employer who violates the provisions of section 
206 or section 207 of this title shall be liable to the 
employee or employees affected in the amount of 
their unpaid minimum wages, or their unpaid over-
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time compensation, as the case may be, and in an 
additional equal amount as liquidated damages. Any 
employer who violates the provisions of section 
215(a)(3) of this title shall be liable for such legal or 
equitable relief as may be appropriate to effectuate 
the purposes of section 215(a)(3) of this title, includ-
ing without limitation employment, reinstatement, 
promotion, and the payment of wages lost and an 
additional equal amount as liquidated damages.  An 
action to recover the liability prescribed in either of 
the preceding sentences may be maintained against 
any employer (including a public agency) in any 
Federal or State court of competent jurisdiction by 
any one or more employees for and in behalf of him-
self or themselves and other employees similarly sit-
uated.  No employee shall be a party plaintiff to any 
such action unless he gives his consent in writing to 
become such a party and such consent is filed in the 
court in which such action is brought.  The court in 
such action shall, in addition to any judgment 
awarded to the plaintiff or plaintiffs, allow a reason-
able attorney’s fee to be paid by the defendant, and 
costs of the action.  The right provided by this sub-
section to bring an action by or on behalf of any em-
ployee, and the right of any employee to become a 
party plaintiff to any such action, shall terminate 
upon the filing of a complaint by the Secretary of 
Labor in an action under section 217 of this title in 
which (1) restraint is sought of any further delay in 
the payment of unpaid minimum wages, or the 
amount of unpaid overtime compensation, as the 
case may be, owing to such employee under section 
206 or section 207 of this title by an employer liable 
therefor under the provisions of this subsection or (2) 
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legal or equitable relief is sought as a result of al-
leged violations of section 215(a)(3) of this title. 
(c) Payment of wages and compensation; waiver of 

claims; actions by the Secretary; limitation of 
actions 

The Secretary is authorized to supervise the pay-
ment of the unpaid minimum wages or the unpaid 
overtime compensation owing to any employee or 
employees under section 206 or section 207 of this 
title, and the agreement of any employee to accept 
such payment shall upon payment in full constitute 
a waiver by such employee of any right he may have 
under subsection (b) of this section to such unpaid 
minimum wages or unpaid overtime compensation 
and an additional equal amount as liquidated dam-
ages.  The Secretary may bring an action in any 
court of competent jurisdiction to recover the amount 
of unpaid minimum wages or overtime compensation 
and an equal amount as liquidated damages.  The 
right provided by subsection (b) of this section to 
bring an action by or on behalf of any employee to 
recover the liability specified in the first sentence of 
such subsection and of any employee to become a 
party plaintiff to any such action shall terminate up-
on the filing of a complaint by the Secretary in an 
action under this subsection in which a recovery is 
sought of unpaid minimum wages or unpaid over-
time compensation under sections 206 and 207 of 
this title or liquidated or other damages provided by 
this subsection owing to such employee by an em-
ployer liable under the provisions of subsection (b) of 
this section, unless such action is dismissed without 
prejudice on motion of the Secretary.  Any sums thus 
recovered by the Secretary of Labor on behalf of an 
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employee pursuant to this subsection shall be held in 
a special deposit account and shall be paid, on order 
of the Secretary of Labor, directly to the employee or 
employees affected.  Any such sums not paid to an 
employee because of inability to do so within a period 
of three years shall be covered into the Treasury of 
the United States as miscellaneous receipts.  In de-
termining when an action is commenced by the Sec-
retary of Labor under this subsection for the purpos-
es of the statutes of limitations provided in section 
255(a) of this title, it shall be considered to be com-
menced in the case of any individual claimant on the 
date when the complaint is filed if he is specifically 
named as a party plaintiff in the complaint, or if his 
name did not so appear, on the subsequent date on 
which his name is added as a party plaintiff in such 
action. 
(d) Savings provisions 
In any action or proceeding commenced prior to, on, 
or after August 8, 1956, no employer shall be subject 
to any liability or punishment under this chapter or 
the Portal-to-Portal Act of 1947 on account of his 
failure to comply with any provision or provisions of 
this chapter or such Act (1) with respect to work 
heretofore or hereafter performed in a workplace to 
which the exemption in section 213(f) of this title is 
applicable, (2) with respect to work performed in 
Guam, the Canal Zone or Wake Island before the ef-
fective date of this amendment of subsection (d), or 
(3) with respect to work performed in a possession 
named in section 206(a)(3) of this title at any time 
prior to the establishment by the Secretary, as pro-
vided therein, of a minimum wage rate applicable to 
such work. 



69a 
 

(e)(1)(A) Any person who violates the provisions of 
sections 212 or 213(c) of this title, relating to child 
labor, or any regulation issued pursuant to such sec-
tions, shall be subject to a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed— 

(i) $11,000 for each employee who was 
the subject of such a violation; or 

(ii) $50,000 with regard to each such vio-
lation that causes the death or serious 
injury of any employee under the age 
of 18 years, which penalty may be 
doubled where the violation is a re-
peated or willful violation. 

(B) For purposes of subparagraph (A), the 
term “serious injury” means— 

(i) permanent loss or substantial im-
pairment of one of the senses (sight, 
hearing, taste, smell, tactile sensa-
tion); 

(ii) permanent loss or substantial im-
pairment of the function of a bodily 
member, organ, or mental faculty, in-
cluding the loss of all or part of an 
arm, leg, foot, hand or other body 
part; or 

(iii) permanent paralysis or substantial 
impairment that causes loss of move-
ment or mobility of an arm, leg, foot, 
hand or other body part. 

(2) Any person who repeatedly or willfully vio-
lates section 206 or 207, relating to wages, 
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shall be subject to a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed $1,100 for each such violation. 

(3) In determining the amount of any penalty 
under this subsection, the appropriateness of 
such penalty to the size of the business of 
the person charged and the gravity of the vi-
olation shall be considered.  The amount of 
any penalty under this subsection, when fi-
nally determined, may be— 

(A) deducted from any sums owing by the 
United States to the person charged; 

(B) recovered in a civil action brought by the 
Secretary in any court of competent ju-
risdiction, in which litigation the Secre-
tary shall be represented by the Solicitor 
of Labor; or 

(C) ordered by the court, in an action brought 
for a violation of section 215(a)(4) of this 
title or a repeated or willful violation of 
section 215(a)(2) of this title, to be paid to 
the Secretary. 

(4) Any administrative determination by the 
Secretary of the amount of any penalty un-
der this subsection shall be final, unless 
within 15 days after receipt of notice thereof 
by certified mail the person charged with the 
violation takes exception to the determina-
tion that the violations for which the penalty 
is imposed occurred, in which event final de-
termination of the penalty shall be made in 
an administrative proceeding after oppor-
tunity for hearing in accordance with section 
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554 of Title 5, and regulations to be promul-
gated by the Secretary. 

(5) Except for civil penalties collected for viola-
tions of section 212 of this title, sums col-
lected as penalties pursuant to this section 
shall be applied toward reimbursement of 
the costs of determining the violations and 
assessing and collecting such penalties, in 
accordance with the provision of section 9a 
of this title.  Civil penalties collected for vio-
lations of section 212 of this title shall be 
deposited in the general fund of the Treas-
ury. 
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